
Date Published: 6 January 2020     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 14 January 2020 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  Apologies for absence Stephen Bace

2  Declarations of Interest Stephen Bace

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 10) Stephen Bace

4  Public Representation 

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is piloting an approach 
whereby members of the public can make representations at committee 
meetings.

At each meeting of the Health Scrutiny Committee there shall be up to 20 
minutes set aside for representations (3 minutes allocated per member of 
the public).

Any person who lives or works in the county, or is affected by the work of 
the County Council, may make a presentation on any matter which relates 
to any item on the Health Overview and Scrutiny agenda for that meeting.

Notification of your intention to attend the meeting and make a 
representation should be given by 4pm three clear working days before the 
date of the meeting.

The closing date for notification is 4pm on 8 January 2020.

Please email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

If any individual has any particular requirements please include in the email.

Cllr Carole 
Allaway Martin

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  Fit for the Future (Pages 11 - 22)

The full report and appendices can be found at: 

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-output-of-
engagement/

Mary Hutton

6  Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report 
(Pages 23 - 58)

Mary Hutton

INFORMATION ITEMS

7  One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report (Pages 59 - 72) Mary Hutton

8  GCCG Clinical Chair/ Accountable Officer Report (Pages 73 - 92) Mary Hutton

9  Memorandum of Understanding (Pages 93 - 100)

The Committee to note the agreed Memorandum of Understanding.  

Membership – Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin (Chairman), Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Suzanne Williams

Co-opted Members - Cllr Collette Finnegan, Cllr Martin Horwood, Cllr Steve Lydon, Cllr Helen 
Molyneux, Cllr Dilys Neill and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Council Chamber.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506  e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-output-of-engagement/
https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-output-of-engagement/
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324204/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).
2. Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 

permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary 
arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not 
wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on 
duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 19 
November 2019 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Nigel Robbins
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Substitutes:

The following were also present:

Officers in attendance:

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)/ One Gloucestershire 
Integrated Care System (ICS)

Mary Hutton – Accountable Officer and ICS Lead
Becky Parish – Associate Director Engagement and Experience 
Caroline Smith – Senior Manager Engagement & inclusion
Dr Andy Seymour – Clinical Chair
Helen Ford - Integrated Care System Lead for Children’s Mental Health and Maternity, 
Mental Health Trailblazer and Better Births Programmes
Dr Paul Atkinson – presenting : The power of technology to improve the quality of NHS 
Services.
Angela Potter, Director of Strategy and Partnerships
Judith Bell – Director of Counselling Tic+

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Deborah Lee – Chief Executive
Peter Lachecki – Chair

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust

Paul Roberts – Chief Executive

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Ingrid Barker  – Chair
Eddie O’Neil  - Deputy Chief Operating Officer
Alex Burrage – Consultant Psychological Therapist IAPT Clinical Lead

Gloucestershire County Council

Sarah Scott, Director Public Health
Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities

Healthwatch Gloucestershire

Bob Lloyd Smith 

Apologies: Cllr Jill Smith
Cllr Rob Vines
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Helen Molyneux 
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Collette Finnegan

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

See above.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations were made.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting on 10 September were agreed subject to the following 
amendment.

To include, Ingrid Barker, Angela Potter, and John Campbell to the attendees list.

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATION 

Cllr Iain Dobie had submitted the following questions:

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Royal College of Psychiatrists has called for an end to the “shameful practice” 
of sending psychiatric patients hundreds of miles from home to be treated. The 
RCP is calling for hundreds of extra beds to be created in order to avoid the 
consequent distress of being separated from friends and families. Bristol, North 
Somerset and South Gloucestershire are named as regularly sending patients out 
of area.

- What are the figures (current and for the past 3 years) for Gloucestershire sending 
psychiatric patients - adults and children - out of area?

- What plans are there to create alternative residential treatment options in area - 
perhaps through cooperation with neighbouring health authorities?

It was explained that in 2018/19 there had been 20 placements and in the previous 
year (2017/18) there had been 27. A detailed response would be circulated outside 
of the meeting.

5. IMPROVING ACCESS TO PSYCHOLOGICAL THERAPIES (IAPT) 

5.1 The Committee received a presentation and Members noted the additional papers 
that had been provided outlining Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Support and the TIC+ Impact Report. The Committee understood there would be a 
workshop with Children and Families Scrutiny Committee members in March/April 
2020 that would allow a more in depth look at this subject.

5.2 The presentation outlined that the IAPT programme was a national programme that 
had commenced in 2008. Nationally over 1 million adults and older adults accessed 
support each year and the NHS Long Term Plan committed to increase this to 1.9 
million by 2023/24.The focus was on addressing the psychological needs of hard to 
reach or vulnerable groups of people. 

5.3 The Committee received performance information which showed the increase in 
referrals and access. Since 2014/15 access had grown from 10% to 16.7% with the 
target for the end of 2019/20 at 20.5%.There was over performance against 
timeliness targets. The percentage of patients waiting longer than 90 days was at 
27%.

5.4 The programme offered  a stepped approach with step one as self-help, for 
example, through the website and by signposting to services; step 2 was providing 
guided and assisted self-help; step 3 was high intensity intervention and support ; 
step 4 was compassionate resilience course. 

5.5 Members understood that people with long term conditions were two or three times 
more likely to experience mental health problems than the general population. 

5.6 The starting point was to develop an integrated approach to PR and cardiac, rehab 
and embed IAPT clinicians into existing public health pathways. It was important to 
increase identification of common mental health problems within physical health 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

settings and promote closer work and skills across the services. The programme 
would look to offer informal support, supervision and training around mental health 
comorbidity. In addition, triage would be offered and review of people who required 
NICE recommended psychological treatments and to develop a full stepped care 
psychological service for people with co-morbidity in the physical health setting. 
65% of patients could go through the lower intensity interventions.   

5.7 The team were looking at pilots funded by NHS England elsewhere to learn from 
best practice.

5.8 One member asked who did the diagnosis and referral with these cases. It was 
explained that those processes were being developed, because there was an 
understanding that many people would not self-refer. 

5.9 It was clarified that where two conditions were presented at the same time this was 
referred to as co-morbidity.

5.10 It was suggested that some individuals with a physical condition did not identify or 
acknowledge they might also have a treatable mental health problem. One member 
asked whether individuals who might not access the service initially and enter later 
were likely to be ‘picked up’ by other organisations. It was stated that the team 
could not say confidently that every patient trying to access a service was being 
tracked. The aim was to make it as accessible as possible as part of a wider mental 
health service. Accident emergency and psychiatric liaison services were also 
involved. Regular contact (every 4 weeks) was made with those individuals waiting 
to access a service. 

5.11 Members noted the improvement in performance for the percentage waiting over 90 
days between their first and second appointments from 52% to 27% since October 
2018. One member asked what had been key to this improvement and how this 
could continue. In response it was explained that recruitment and retention of staff 
to support the model was key as was putting people in the right place at the right 
time and not remaining in the service longer than required. It was anticipated that 
they would be meeting the 90 day target by this time next year which was at 10%. 
This would involve a continuation of the good work that was currently in place. A lot 
of modelling was undertaken to understand how changes would affect the waiting 
list.

5.12 The Committee noted the information provided relating to mental health services for 
young people and were informed that there were links with universities, advertising 
campaigns and close working with GPs to ensure young people were aware of, and 
could access, those services.

5.13 In response to a question it was explained that there was a young people’s local 
website which was created by young people with resources to help them help 
themselves and their friends with information on how to access local support. The 
plan was to link this to new programme of local referral alongside’ trailblazer’ 
scheme with schools as detailed in the reports. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

5.14 The Committee agreed that there was a need to have a more detailed look with 
regards to access to psychological therapies and understand how the services 
joined up across the age ranges from child development, through transitions and 
into adulthood. Members would explore options as to how to take this forward, 
recognising plans were in place for a children’s mental health focussed workshop in 
March/April 2020 involving Children and Families Scrutiny Committee.
ACTION Work Planning/ Stephen Bace

6. THE POWER OF TECHNOLOGY TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF NHS 
SERVICES 

6.1 Dr Paul Atkinson introduced the report outlining the delivery goals which centred 
around delivering a modern flexible infrastructure; provide a holistic view of the 
citizen’s direct care needs; joined up intelligence; provide streamlined systems and 
tools and offering people and their circle of care consistent and usable digital 
access.        

6.2 There was consideration of what patients need and want; members were shown a 
flow chart that demonstrated how a patient’s desire for advice to check symptoms 
and access the right medical help and medications led them directly to a GP 
practice, when the more appropriate route would to triage the patient to the most 
appropriate type of care. 

6.3 Digital tools would be used to empower citizens to manage their health and 
wellbeing because it was better, simpler and because more people wanted to 
access services this way. For this to work there needed to be a point where people 
felt that the online journey was desirable.

6.4 Members received details of the Digital First/Online Services available such as the 
NHS app, patient’s online accounts and appointment and record access. Members 
were informed that 18% of repeat prescriptions in Gloucestershire were through 
electronic prescribing with the aim to raise this to 25%.

6.5 There was detail provided of the way in which information was shared such as 
through ‘Cinapsis’ that allowed GPs to talk to specialists. There was an average 19 
seconds waiting times for GPs to access a specialist.

6.6 Members noted the data on the monthly views of the JUYI system which had been 
launched on 30 August 2018 with 200 users. The user feedback had been good.

6.7 One member commented that the figures around digital access were still relatively 
low compared to other organisations and suggested that it was still a very paper 
based system on the ground. In response it was explained that funding and 
willingness of central government was a factor in this but mainly it was ‘legacy’ with 
old equipment needing replacing. Digital options did not work for all of our patients 
and it was felt that we should be careful not to aim too high. It was suggested that if 
a percentage of the working age population could be moved away from face to face 
towards self care and more efficient means, that would create capacity for those 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

that did not have digital technology. In Gloucestershire in Oct 2019 there had been 
47,000 prescription requests. 

6.8 One member asked how much patient information had been digitalised. In addition 
he asked were there still barriers in moving those records to a digital system? It was 
explained that this varied across organisations. Primary Care had been largely 
digital for a decade, but the historical library was on paper and any move to a new 
surgery would require paper copies to be transferred. There was a national 
programme to digitalise those paper records.

6.9 With regards to electronic prescriptions, some members suggested that there were 
issues with stock levels of medication so that when patients turned up at 
pharmacies their order could not be fulfilled. It was explained that the system could 
not check stock levels and medication shortages were a national issue.

6.10 Bob Lloyd Smith, Gloucestershire Healthwatch, spoke regarding the usefulness of 
the applications such as the ASAP app. There was disappointment around the 
relatively low numbers of people using it. He asked what was being done to 
educate people of the ‘apps’.  It was explained that there was a NHS apps library 
which was advertised locally with posters in waiting rooms. Partners were asked to 
help promote the apps and it was recognised that this involved a continual round of 
engagement and communication. 

6.11 One member raised some scepticism around the success and take-up of the online 
services being provided by local surgeries and suggested that there had been a 
gap in the communication process. In response it was explained that there was a 
network meeting of patient participation groups this week which included an agenda 
item on apps and online services. Until recently all surgeries in Gloucestershire 
except two (due to technical issues) provided online services and had the systems 
in place. There would be national communication of this once all GP surgeries 
could meet the demand. Local promotion within surgeries had been mixed with 
some having competing priorities, but it was emphasised that this was a system 
that would relive demand. 

6.12 Cllr Carole Allaway Martin raised issues brought up by Members around waiting 
times and increased delays in accessing services in the Aspen Medical Centre. Dr 
Andy Seymour was a partner at the centre, and explained that in the first part of the 
year there had been difficulty managing demand through telephone system, but 
there had now been an improvement in this area.. It was suggested that it would be 
useful for interested members to visit the site and understand the challenges and 
the way in which issues were being addressed. This could then be used as a case 
study on how to manage a complex hub system. 
ACTION Cllr Carole Allaway Martin/ Stephen Bace

6.13 One member raised concern about security and the potential for lost data when 
systems were being updated. In response it was explained that in Primary Care, the 
clinical systems were hosted through national server farms and tested by NHS 
Digital. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

7. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

7.1 Members noted the draft Memorandum of Understanding that had been drawn up  
to enable the Committee to be clear as to what constituted a substantial variation or 
development in a health service and to clarify the role of scrutiny. The document 
included definitions around service changes such as ‘Emergency/ Temporary’.  

7.2 Members had a further opportunity to comment on the draft by email and 
discussions would continue with partners. Cllr Carole Allaway Martin as Chair of the 
Committee would sign it off on behalf of the Committee once all parties were happy. 
The Committee would receive the final version as an information item in the new 
year.

7.3 One member commented that it was important that timescales were agreed in 
relation to service change and that this should be done on a case by case basis. It 
was felt that a document such as this was essential as a guideline to how the 
Committee considered these items. 

8. GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 

8.1 The Committee noted the report with Mary Hutton updating members on the areas 
of improvement. It was explained that there were significant peaks and troughs in 
demand.

8.2 Members noted the 4 hour A&E target which had seen reduced performance, still 
compared well nationally. Members were informed of the Urgent Care Summit with 
actions from it to look in more detail at the areas of demand. Members noted the 
further investment in the Emergency Department and Psychiatric Liaison Service. 

8.3 Further work was required regarding the performance relating to Cancer and in 
particular the 62 day target regarding GP referrals, screening and consultant 
upgrade. Members expressed concern at the continual poor performance in this 
area. In response it was explained that the focus had been on ensuring that the 
targets around two week assessments had been made as 90% of patients would be 
reassured at that stage that they did not have cancer and this target had now been 
achieved for three consecutive months, the first since 2015.. The focus was now on 
the 62 day pathway and urology was the challenge here but significant work was 
underway to address this. She would provide a briefing to members and feed back 
for January 2020 on what work was being undertaken in this area.
ACTION Deborah Lee

8.4 One member referred to media reports relating to changes to laboratory work in 
Cheltenham General Hospital with cytology now being delivered elsewhere. The 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

member was concerned that this was a further ‘bit by bit eroding; of Cheltenham 
General. In response it was clarified that this was one service within the laboratory 
that was commissioned by NHS England and moved as part of a national 
commissioning process. This was establishing fewer, ‘specialist’, centres doing a 
higher volume of work to achieve better outcomes. This was not related to any 
other plans or proposals for Cheltenham General and the laboratory at CGH 
remained open. 

8.5 One member noted the national concerns around A & E waiting times and asked 
what was the reason for these issues. In response it was reiterated that there was a 
national picture of increased demand on A & E services and the causes were not 
well understood at this stage. In terms of managing demand the focus was on 
encouraging patients to use the most appropriate services. Although 
Gloucestershire’s performance relative to recent time was not strong it was still one 
of the stronger performers nationally.  

8.6 One member requested an update with regards to radiology and community x-ray. 
It was explained that there had been some successful recruitment and greater 
flexible use of staff had allowed an increase in hours to some extent. Despite this 
they were not able to run a full service, this was a national issue and there was no 
quick solution..

8.7 In relation to ‘Planned Care – Diagnostics’ it was explained that non-obstetric 
ultrasound remained an area of concern for GP Care who had flagged their 
continuing financial pressure. An update would be provided at the next meeting.  
ACTION Mary Hutton

9. ONE GLOUCESTERSHIRE ICS LEAD REPORT 

9.1 Members noted the report. Mary Hutton provided the Committee with details of the 
Enabling Active Communities programme and the Community Wellbeing Service.

9.2 In relation to Clinical Programme Approach, the Committee noted that a Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Self Management Plan was to be evaluated in the 
Hospital, community and 13 GP practices with the trial phase having commenced in 
September 2019. The new National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) 
provider, ICS, Health and Wellbeing Board started on 1 August 2019 and was 
working well with nearly 400 referrals made to date. The 10 Year Diabetes Strategy 
had been finalised and would be submitted for approval to Diabetes Clinical 
Programme Group in November 2019.

9.3 One member raised the Fit for the Future engagement and noted the comments 
made by the Secretary of State. He asked what information had been provided to 
the Secretary of State to provide assurances around the future of Cheltenham A & 
E. He requested detail around what proposals would be consulted on. Officers 
noted that the Committee meeting was being held during the pre-election period 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

and so there would be no response to questions of this nature at this time. The 
Chair reminded members that the Committee would be considering the outcome of 
the engagement process at its meeting in January 2020 and there would be time for 
further questions at that stage.

9.4 The Committee recognised that the ICS lead Report contained a lot of information 
that would benefit from Public Health statistics to further inform members regarding 
outcomes. Members reflected that this split in the reporting was in part due to the 
change in committee remits following the Scrutiny review and that Public Health 
information was received by Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee. If members had specific requests for information this could still be 
provided and where there were scrutiny items that that warranted it, joint meetings 
with the other committees could be arranged.

9.5 One member commented on the Joint Estate Strategy and sought reassurance that 
partners were included in discussions around any surplus sites to make the best 
use for the public sector. In response it was explained that there was a One 
Gloucestershire Estate Group and the membership of that group could be provided.
ACTION Mary Hutton

10. GCCG CLINICAL CHAIR/ ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER REPORT 

The report was noted.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at  11:50am

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Output of Engagement 
The FFTF Engagement sought views on the 

future provision of urgent and specialist hospital 

care in Gloucestershire. 

 

Key Findings 
A comprehensive Output of Engagement Report can be found at: 

www.onegloucestershire.net 

Date:  

January 2020  

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5



What was the engagement about and what did we ask the 

public and staff to help us with? 

 

The engagement was an opportunity to talk about : 

• the ways services could be organised to get the best urgent advice, 

support and care across Gloucestershire 

• The benefits of having two thriving specialist hospitals in future in 

Cheltenham and Gloucester 

 

We said we think it’s important to:  
• make it easier, faster and more convenient to get advice, support 

and services 7 days a week 

• ensure care is co-ordinated 

• provide most care in or near home 

• ensure high quality services in the right place: right staff, skills and 

equipment 

• Have outstanding hospital care when you are unwell 

 

 

P
age 12



What was the engagement about and what did we ask the 

public and staff to help us with? 

 

We asked the public and staff: 

• to help us to develop ideas to support easier, faster and more 

convenient ways to get urgent same day advice and care wherever 

people live in Gloucestershire 

• what’s important to them in getting urgent (not life threatening) 

same day advice and care  

• to tell us what they think about our ideas for a ‘centres of 

excellence’ approach to providing specialist services at the two large 

hospital sites in the county  

• to help us with developing potential solutions for some specialist 

services: Emergency and Acute Medicine, General Surgery and 

Image Guided Interventional Surgery 

• to consider the new hospital for the Forest of Dean 

 

P
age 13



What did we do during the public engagement and how 

many people got involved?  

 

 
• 1230 FFTF online surveys completed  

• 1252 FFTF surveys (template)   
 received  from Cheltenham MP 

• 153  FoD Hospitals surveys completed 

• 28  Public Drop in Events 

• 12  Independently facilitated 
 workshops  

• 1  Engagement Hearing 

• 13  Other events  

• Staff communication and engagement 

• Media advertising 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Website - 18,872 views of the One 
Gloucestershire website, incl. 4,755 
views of the Fit for the Future 
engagement page.  

• 1,800 visits to the Forest of Dean 
website 

• 21 Facebook posts (non- paid for 
activity), with a total reach of 34,406. 

• 4-week paid for Facebook advert that 
linked to the engagement section on 
the One Gloucestershire website. This 
achieved a reach of 57,440 with 82 
shares.  

• 49 tweets, with a total of 42,625 
impressions.  

• 7,000 Hardcopy engagement 
booklets  

 
OVER 3300 local people participated 
in planned activities – but the focus of 
engagement is not about numbers it is 
about receiving qualitative feedback 
from a broad range of people 

P
age 14



 

Does the feedback reflect the views of a cross-section of 

people in Gloucestershire? 

 We worked with Inclusion 
Gloucestershire to ensure the 
voices of people with protected 
characteristics were heard  

 

 

We collected a range of demographic 
data from the FFTF survey respondents* 

Age, Role, Postcode, Disability status, 
Carer status, Ethnicity, Religion/belief, 
Gender identity, Sexual orientation, 
whether Pregnant or recently given 
birth. 

Respondents to the demographic survey 
questions broadly represent the local 
population profile. Exception are a high 
response rate from people with a 
Cheltenham postcode and people who 
identify as an unpaid carer. 

 

All feedback received during engagement 
is collated, read and considered; no 
‘weighting’ is applied to feedback. 

 
*note individuals self-select to complete surveys 

 

 

 

 

P
age 15



 

What were the main feedback themes? These are some of the 

things people said about: Urgent Care Services in Local Areas 

 Cheltenham Keep A&E at CGH/ Restore 
24/7 A&E at CGH  

 

£/Funding  Additional investment needed 
in the NHS / ensure value for money/best 
use of resources 

 

111: Need improved 111 people have 
confidence in / directs to the most 
appropriate service 

 

Accessible and timely opening hours, 
travel times/location essential / Services 
provided in a timely manner / consider the 
needs of population/demographic, now 
and into the future 

 

Pathways and communication Ensure 
people know where and when to seek 
support / Establish simple, accessible 
pathways 

 

 

 

 

 

Access to GP services Improved access to 
GP appointments, both urgent and routine 
and “out of hours” / Better use of range of 
healthcare professionals at GP practices  

 

Integration & workforce More joined up 
way of providing care / Make the most of 
diversity of workforce / Ensure sufficient 
staff, with mix of skills deliver range of 
services / Staff recruitment and retention  

 

Minor Illness and Injury Units (MIIU) 
Ensure MIIUs provide local, equitable 
access, are well-resourced (staff and 
equipment) with access to a range of 
diagnostics / Introduce MIIUs for Gloucester 
and Cheltenham  

 

Quality and Equity Ensure provision is 
resilient; of a high quality; is fair and 
equitable across the county 

 

 

 

 

P
age 16



What were the main feedback themes ? These are some of the 

things people said about: Emergency and acute medicine 

Cheltenham Retain CGH A&E / Re-
instate A&E 24.7 at CGH / CGH is a 
General Hospital 

 

Centres of excellence Emergency 
Medicine is not a specialist service / 
GRH A&E won’t have capacity to cope 
with increased demand / Some support 
for ED at GRH only 

 

Quality/Equity/Sustainability Safety 
risk – people will have poorer outcomes 
/ Important: Quality of care/ 
Outcomes/Safety/Patient experience / 
Not sustainable as it is, the system is 
going to have to change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Communications/pathways NHS 111 
sends too many people to A&E / Better 
communications – public don’t know 
where to go 

 

Access/Population Access from the 
east of the County = Inequality / A&E 
attendance increased by poor GP 
access / Travel delays / Poor public 
transport / Car parking charges / 
consider population growth 

 

Workforce / Technology Attract next 
generation of A&E clinicians / More 
joined up way of providing care / Make 
the most of diversity of workforce /  
Ensure sufficient numbers of staff, with 
appropriate mix of skills to deliver 
range of services required / Focus on 
staff recruitment and retention 

 

 

 

 

Ensure mental health is considered 

and built into the system 

P
age 17



What were the main feedback themes?  

These are some of the things people said about:  

General (incl. 
Emergency) Surgery 
Cheltenham or Gloucester Retain 
General Surgery at CGH and GRH / 
Centralise General Surgery at GRH  
 

Centres of excellence   Centralising 
emergency general surgery enables 
running of a daily emergency surgical 
clinic / Would one hospital site have 
capacity for all emergency general 
surgery beds? 
 

Access/Population Concern about 
having a site without critical care or 
general surgery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Image Guided 
Interventional Surgery 
(IGIS) 
Cheltenham or Gloucester Establish 
IGIS at both CGH and GRH / at GRH 
only/ or at CGH only 
 

Centres of excellence 
/Sustainability Why aren’t we doing 
this already? 
 

£Funding Cost effective to establish 
IGIS on one site 
 

Access Surprise and shock at current 
situation (patients having to go out of 
county for treatment) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Workforce Attract next generation of sub-specialist surgeons to 

Gloucestershire 

P
age 18



What were the main feedback themes?  

These are some of the Other things people said:  

 

• Build one hospital half way 
between CGH and GRH 

• Charge ‘timewasters’: 
sports injuries, drunks and 
health tourists 

• Car parking too expensive 

• Extend hours of shuttle bus 
between CGH and GRH 

• Join up services with social 
care better 

• Prevention and self care a 
priority to manage demand 

 

 

 

 

 

• More investment in NHS 

• Staff recruitment into 
Gloucestershire vital  

• Maximise use of 
digital/technology 

• Concentrate on staff morale 

• Sustainability: Increasing 
population/housebuilding 

• Centres of excellence = 
Parcels for privatisation 

• Reduce administration and 
management costs 

 

P
age 19



A new hospital for the Forest of Dean - what did we ask the public 

and staff to help us with?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The focus of the engagement was to: 

• test and develop ideas to support our planning for 

inpatient services in the new hospital; 

• find out what’s important to local people in accessing 

consistent urgent (not life threatening) advice, assessment 

and treatment; 

• gather feedback on the range of outpatient and diagnostic 

services that should be provided in the new hospital; 

• understand what’s important to local people when 

accessing services in the new hospital. 

P
age 20



A new hospital for the Forest of Dean: Feedback themes - 

These are some of the things people told us: 

Numbers of beds  

• Significant concerns about any reduction in beds, given the rising population and 
increase in elderly demographic.   

• Insufficient detail regarding alternative provision for Gloucester and Cheltenham 
residents was provided 

• The bed planning does not seem to account for people who chose to die in a 
community hospital.  

 

Urgent care  

• Transport/accessibility in the Forest of Dean is really difficult. Cinderford is particularly 
difficult to reach from the southern part of the Forest.  

• GP appointments – improvements to accessibility of local GP appointments are 
required to support urgent/out-of-hours care.  

 

Outpatient and Diagnostic Services 

• Current range of services provided at the Dilke and Lydney hospitals should be 
provided in the new hospital - including therapies, follow-up appointments, children’s 
services, screening, ophthalmology and audiology/hearing aid service. 

• Some of the diagnostic services commonly mentioned include: blood tests, endoscopy 
and colonoscopy, screening, x-ray, and ultrasound.  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 21



Summary of key feedback and next steps 

Key feedback  
• Centres of excellence: Both 

positive and negative 
feedback about this 
approach to future hospital 
service configuration 

• Quality/Equity/Sustainability 

• Access 

• Population 
growth/demographic 

• £Funding 

• Workforce / Technology  

• Communications/pathways 

• Access to GP services  

• Integration 

• Workforce  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Next steps 
First stage 

• Consideration of Output of 
Engagement Report 

• Citizens’ Jury  

• Solutions Appraisal  

Second stage 

• Development of business 
cases 

• NHS England Assurance 

Third stage 

• Consultation (as required) 

• Consideration of Output of 
Consultation 

• Decisions 

 

 

 

 

Over 3300 

local 

people 

took  

part in 

planned 

activities 

 

Over 50 

events 

 

Feedback 

Report 

published 

and 

considered 

 

P
age 22



1

Gloucestershire 

Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee

CCG Performance Report 

January 2019

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6



2

Report Title Gloucestershire CCG Performance report

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – January 2020

Purpose of Report The performance framework report provides the Committee with an overview of Gloucestershire

CCG performance against the ‘in year’ organisational objectives 2019/20.

A full summary of performance against all national and local standards as reported to GCCG

Governing Body is included, with supporting narrative to inform members of key system actions to

support continued performance or mitigating actions to give assurance where performance is below

target or there is outlying variation across the county.

Is this for information

or decision?

This Report is for information.

Authors Kat Doherty, Performance Manager, GCCG

Key Issues:

• A&E performance for Type 1 attendances has dropped, currently performing below the local system target of 90%.

Performance remains in line with national picture.

• October DTOC performance has improved from recent months at GHFT.

• RTT performance for Gloucestershire continues to meet the recovery trajectory, with performance now benchmarking

similarly to other systems in the South West. 52 week breaches are reducing in line with agreed performance trajectory.

• Diagnostics performance continues to meet the national target at GHFT, this is in contrast to much of the South West where

this target is consistently missed.

• N.B. – Performance information is presented to latest available data as at 13th December 2019.

Recommendations to the Committee:

We recommend that this report be noted.

Financial/Resource Implications:

Financial implications considered in provider contracts.

P
age 24



Contents

1.0 Scorecard 

2.0 Executive Summary 

2.1 Leadership

2.2 Better Care

2.3 Sustainability

3.0 Better Care

3.1 Performance updates

This document is a highlight report which is presented to give the CCG Governing Body an overview 

of current CCG and provider performance across a range of national priorities and local standards. 

Whilst inevitably this report focuses on areas of concern it should be noted that Gloucestershire is 

currently achieving the majority of the local and national performance standards. 

3

P
age 25



1.0 Scorecard: CCG Performance Overview

4

CCG IAF assessments for 2018/19 were published 11th July 2019. 

GCCG was rated “Good” overall.

P
age 26



2.1 Executive Summary – Leadership

This domain assesses the quality of the CCG’s leadership, the quality of its plans, how the 

CCG works with its partners, and the governance arrangements that the CCG has in place to 

ensure it acts with probity, for example in managing conflicts of interest. 

2.1.

1
Staff engagement : Robust culture and Leadership Sustainability (OD Plan)

2.1.

2

Probity and Corporate Governance: Full governance compliance

2.1.

3
Effectiveness of working relationships in the local system: Effectiveness of working 

relationships in the local system 

2.1.

4
Quality of CCG leadership:  Review of the effectiveness of culture, leadership 

sustainability and an oversight of quality assurance.  

5

Green

P
age 27



2.2 Executive Summary – Better Care

This domain focuses on care redesign, performance of constitutional 

standards, and outcomes, including in important clinical areas.

Overall 

Rating

2.2.1 Planned Care

2.2.2 Unscheduled Care

2.2.23
Cancer

2.2.4
Mental Health 

2.2.4 Learning disability  

2.2.5
Maternity 

6

Amber

P
age 28



2.3 Executive Summary - Sustainability

This domain looks at how the CCG is remaining in financial balance, and is 

securing good value for patients and the public from the money it spends 

Rating

2.3.1 Year to date surplus variance to plan (%)

2.3.2 Forecast surplus to plan (%variance)

2.3.3 Forecast running costs in comparison to running cost allocation (%)

2.3.4 Forecast savings delivery in comparison to plan (%)

2.3.5 Year to date BPPC performance in comparison to 95% target (%)

2.3.6 Cash drawdown in line with planned profile (%)

2.3.7 Forecast capital spend in comparison to plan (%)
7

Green

P
age 29



3.0 Performance Dashboard 

78.4

%

Performance
(all Gloucestershire 

patients)

2 Week 

Waits

2 Week 

Waits Breast

31 Day 1st

Treatment

31 Day Waits 

Surgery 

94.6% 100%

31 Day Waits 

Drugs 

31 Day Waits 

Radiotherapy

62 Day GP 

Referral

62 Day 

Screening

62 Day 

Upgrade

98.1% 98.3% 100% 100% 78.0% 96.3% 61.5%

Planned Care

October 2019

RTT Incomplete <18 weeks        RTT 52 week breaches

Gloucestershire        GHFT              Gloucestershire     GHFT

Diagnostics >6 weeks

(Gloucestershire)   (GHFT)              .

Diagnostics >6 weeks (YTD)

(Gloucestershire)       (GHFT)

1.15% 1.6%

Unscheduled 

Care 

4 Hour A&E  

Nov (System)

4 Hour A&E  

Nov (GHFT)

Category 1 Ambulance

Oct 19 

(Gloucestershire) 

Category 1 Ambulance

YEAR TO DATE 

(Gloucestershire)

83.4% 76.2% 7.3 mins 7.0 mins

Delayed Transfers of 

Care (DToC)

Oct 19 (GHFT)

3.77%

IAPT  
(October 

2019)

Access
(target 1.53%)

Recovery
(target 50%)

1.59% 50%

GHFT 

Performance

Cancer 

Dashboard 
(October 2019)

0.6% 0.7%

Dementia 

Diagnosis

(September 

2019)

Estimated Diagnosis 

Rate (Target 66.7%)

68.2%

Amber

83.0% 82.5% 59

94.0% 98.1% 98.2% 92.1% 100% 77.4% 71.4%100% 96.3%

61

Arrow direction reflects performance 

from previous month

P
age 30



3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

111 Call Volume 111 Disposition

Ambulance – Category 1

9

System A&E 4 hr Performance

P
age 31



3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

GHFT average Length of StayGCS average Length of Stay

10

NB: Weeks 1-7 missing from 2018/19 data due to quality concerns

P
age 32



Gloucestershire whole system

performance was 83.4% in November

2019, reflecting performance of 76.2%

against the 4 hour target at GHFT and

99.6% across all MIIU sites. YTD whole

system performance is 89.6% against

the 4 hour target, with GHFT YTD

performance at 84.8%. This is the third

month in a row that the system has not

met the 90% local standard, and is

primarily due to significant reductions in

performance at the GRH site, however

GHFT does remain in the top third of

acute trusts for Type 1 performance

nationally.

A five point plan for ED front door to

address performance has been agreed :

• Refocus of GP in ED (to back door);

• Enhancing ED streaming and

redirection;

• Increasing access to directly

bookable appointments, including at

MIIUs;

• Winter funding allocation for

supporting AMIA staffing to 11pm;

• Increased use of Cinapsis for

medical referrals to ED.

3.1 Unscheduled Care – 4 hour A&E 

11

Red

P
age 33



12

3.1 A&E performance to 4 hour target by site

P
age 34



Cinapsis (Hot advice from specialty consultants for medical emergency referrals):

• Contract extension has been agreed/funded by the CCG for 7 months from 1st October 2019 to 30th April 

2020 allowing  time to fully test and evaluate the service.

• 5 specialties (from Monday 9th December) offering A&G: Acute Medicine, Acute Paediatrics, Acute 

Respiratory, Frailty (new) and Dermatology.

• Roll out is now almost 100% complete – all GP practices should have access by end of December 2019.

• Outcome: Patients avoiding ED and being directed to assessment units in CGH and GRH; sometimes the 

following day, improving flow and patient experience.

NHS 111:

• GCCG are working with BNSSG, Somerset and NHSE/I to explore opportunities to improve 999/ED 

validation (including using a regional clinical forum to explore opportunities to validate in an evidence based 

manner/intelligent validation).

• Performance remains volatile, particularly around % calls answered within 60 seconds, however the average 

time for call answer was 41 seconds in October 2019.

• The “Back to Basics” plan has now been implemented to address staffing and performance, with shift fill 

improving as a result – this will be monitored through the contractual meetings with Care UK.

OOH:

• Performance much improved on the majority of areas, which is a significant improvement on recent months’ 

performance. 

• Resilience plans are in place to ensure major acute sites are always covered by OOH.

• Pathway for direct booking of patients with minor illness into GHAC (in hours ED) is being progressed.

13

3.1 Unscheduled Care updates

P
age 35



3.2 Unscheduled Care – Ambulance Category 1

Gloucestershire performance in Category 1 for October 2019 remains just above the 7 minute mark for

Gloucestershire on average, with performance at 7.3 minutes. YTD performance across Gloucestershire is 7.0

minutes on average. SWAST Performance across all geographical areas (South West) was 7.0 minutes in

October, thus meeting the Category 1 target.

Handover delays have increased slightly at both GRH and CGH acute sites, the CCG is working with SWAST

and GHFT to determine what actions can be implemented to return to the excellent performance seen earlier in

the year.

14

Amber

P
age 36



15

3.2 Unscheduled Care – Ambulance Category 2

Category 2 performance again remains above the target of an average response time of 18 minutes in October

2019. This target has been missed consistently across the whole SWAST patch since the introduction of the ARP

standards and remains a focus for improvement for South West commissioners in 2019/20.

Increased demand on SWAST, particularly in Gloucestershire, has led to current over-performance against

contract activity throughout the YTD.

A working group has been set up to assess demand management for SWAST incidents and define actions to

reduce incidents requiring an ambulance response focussing on:

• 111 demand (validation of Category 3 and 4 calls)

• High Intensity Users

• Care home activity

Amber

P
age 37



16

3.2 Ambulance Category 1 response performance by district 

(April 2018 to date)

P
age 38



3.21 Unscheduled Care – Delayed Transfers of Care

17

Top Line Messages

The DToC rate at GHFT has remained above the 3.5% target in October with performance at 3.77%, however 

this is an improvement on the previous 2 months.  GHC (Community) DToCs have risen to 6.3% as a result of a 

change in reporting, leading to a more accurate account of DToCs in community hospitals.  GHC is working with 

the onward care team to improve delays for community patients.

The system has committed to a Transfer of Care Bureau – this is a Multiagency/disciplinary clinical team based 

in GHFT who will triage all referrals out of the acute hospital to focus on home first, and reducing the number of 

patients placed into residential care/ care environments. 

To support winter resilience, GHFT are in the process of planning a Gallery ward equivalent for Cheltenham for 

winter period.  This will support medically fit patients to assist with flow elsewhere in the hospital when 

unavoidable delays occur.

Amber

P
age 39



18

3.21 Long Stay (>21 day LoS)

Patients who have stays longer than 21 days are classed as “long stay or superstranded” patients in acute

hospitals. They often experience avoidable delays and have worse outcomes, so a national target has been set to

reduce these by 40% from a March 2018 baseline. Based on this data, GHFT have been set a target of reducing

patients with stays of longer than 21 days in the hospital to no more than 114.

As of the 25th November 2019, the weekly average long stay patient figure was 141, a significant increase on

recent weeks, with rises also seen in “stranded” (patients in hospital for 7 days or more) and medically fit patients

reported. The number of long stay patients still remains below the trajectory set for GHFT by the national team,

however is a cause for concern due to the performance challenges currently seen at Gloucester Royal Hospital in

particular

Amber

P
age 40



3.3 System Overview - Planned Care:

Referral Trends Diagnostics

19

Amber

RTT >18 weeks 52 week waits (RTT)

NB: Referral Assessment Service (RAS) activity now included

P
age 41



3.4 Planned Care – Diagnostics >6 weeks

20

CCG Performance for October was 1.15%, continuing the run of performance just above the 1% standard for

numbers of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test.

There were 117 breaches for GCCG patients in October, 47 of which were at GHFT.

GHFT performance improved to 0.6% (0.8% in September) again meeting the 6 week standard.

GP Care Non-Obstetric Ultrasound (NOUS) breaches have reduced in October (10, down from 50 in September).

GHC (formerly GCS) performance in Echocardiography has improved (8 breaches), with the impact of summer

clinic cancellations now beginning to be resolved.

Top Line Messages:

Amber

P
age 42



21

3.4 RTT

October 2019 data shows that GCCG

incomplete pathways (>18 weeks) stands at

83.0% - exceeding the locally agreed

planning target (for August the trajectory was

to achieve 79%. GHFT performance for July

was 82.5%, continuing consistent

performance above their recovery trajectory

for the year:

There were 61fifty-two week incomplete

waiters in October 2019 (against a local

target of 80): 59 of these were at

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHSFT across a

number of specialties, with the highest

number of breaches recorded in Upper and

Lower GI surgery and ENT. A specialty level

trajectory for 52 week breaches has been

produced by the trust, to ensure that each

service has a specific target to work to in

ensuring the organisational trajectory is met.

Currently GHFT remain on course to

achieve the trajectory by the end of the year,

however acknowledge that the steepening

recovery trajectory will be challenging to

achieve for Q4 of 2019/20. Their internal

target remains to clear the backlog of 52

week waits as soon as possible.

The two remaining 52 week breaches were

1 at North Bristol Trust and 1 at other

hospitals.

Top Line Messages:

Amber

P
age 43



3.5 System Overview Cancer: October 2019

2WW (GP Ref’d) 2WW (Breast)

22

Amber

P
age 44



3.5 System Overview Cancer: October 2019

31 day 31 day subsequent treatm’t: Surgery

23

31 day subsequent treatm’t: Drugs
31 day subsequent treatm’t: 

Radiotherapy

Amber

P
age 45



3.5 System Overview Cancer: October 2019

62 day: Consultant Upgrade

62 day: GP referral 62 day: Screening

24

Red

P
age 46



3.6 Cancer – 2 week waits

In October 2019, 2 week wait performance was 94.0% for GCCG and 94.6% for GHFT, achieving above the 93%

2ww standard for the second month running.

For the CCG, Upper and Lower GI specialties, and “Other” cancer sites, did not meet the 93% standard, however

both Upper and Lower GI performance was still over 90%.

Actions to sustain delivery:

• 0-7 day booking being rolled out across specialties – Lung now polling at 10 days for first apponitment;

• Dermatology referral pathway development project (to support how the system responds to significant

variation in demand);

• Continuation of GLANSO lists for Endoscopy;

• Quality of referrals improvement project and further work to understand GP referral patterns.

25

Amber

P
age 47



3.7 Cancer – 62 days 

October performance was 77.4% for GCCG, and was 78.0% at GHFT. There were 38 breaches, the majority in

Urology (18 breaches, 41.9%), though Head and Neck (4 breaches, 50%) and Lower GI (9 breaches, 55%)

specialties also had low performance to target. While closer to the target, Lung (2 breaches, 81.2%) and

Haematological (2 breaches, 72.4%) specialties were also below 85%.

In October 2019 there were 12 104 day breaches for first treatment for GCCG patients, which is a slight reduction

on numbers seen in recent months (average of around 20 patients). GHFT have advised that their backlog of long

waiting patients is reducing, though there are still capacity issues within Urology which impacts the ability to fully

clear the backlog. This is a positive position compared to national cancer waiting times, where waits for treatment

continue to grow.

26

Red

P
age 48



Programme / Trust –wide actions to improve performance:

• Demand and Capacity modelling across all specialties led by Deputy Cancer services 

manager.

• Pathway analysis conducted in conjunction with NHSI focussing on Lower GI now complete.

• Consultant triage of Urology referrals now implemented.

• Continued review of primary care referrals by the referral improvement project team to identify 

patterns and reduce variation.

• Deep dive analysis into individual patient breaches to identify and understand the reasons for 

days lost in a patient pathway.

• GHFT have established partnership working with Royal Devon and Exeter Cancer Service to 

share learning around PTL management, escalation, and breach management.

• Splitting Upper GI MDT to two separate MDTs (Oesophogeal and Hepatobiliary and 

Pancreatic (HPB)) to allow focus on respective pathways.

27

3.7 Cancer – Actions and updates

P
age 49



3.8 System Overview: Mental Health - IAPT

Access Recovery

28

Green

In-Stage Waits

P
age 50



3.8 Mental Health - IAPT

Recovery performance has been

excellent throughout 2018/19, with the

50% target being met in each month;

latest performance for October 2019 is

50%.

The Access target had been held at

17% annually for the first half of

2019/20 to allow for the continued

focus on reduction of in-stage waits

(see below). From October onwards,

the access trajectory will increase by

the equivalent of 1% annually, to reach

18% cumulatively (or 4.5% for Q3).

While below the national access target

of 19%, the service has met the local

trajectory cumulatively though to

September (at 17%) and is on track to

meet the Q3 target with October

performance against the access target

at 1.59%.

In stage waits have now stabilised,

and the stage 3 waiting list backlog

has been mostly cleared, which should

lead to improvements in waits for

second appointments in Q4.

29

Green

P
age 51



The average waiting time for a CHOICE initial assessment (first contact) is currently 9 weeks 

(though urgent cases are seen more quickly). 

The waiting time for a Partnership first treatment (second contact) appointment has also 

increased over the past 12 months due to staff being attracted to work in the Trailblazer 

programme, increase in demand and complexity and staffing challenges at middle grade nursing 

nationally.  Average waiting times rose to over 12 months, but this has now come down 

significantly to around 9 months (current wait time of 39 weeks). Waiting times for both 

assessment and treatment are predicted to reduce as new staff are inducted and maternity leave 

ends (see slide 31). 30

CYPS – Referral and waiting times

P
age 52



Demand and Capacity modelling forecast indicates:

• By March 2020 there should be no patients waiting over 18 weeks; 

• Recovery of waiting times to between 4 to 6 weeks for referral to treatment may be achieved by 
September 2020.

This assumes that demand is stable for the service, and that all planned staff recruitment/ retention 
strategies are successful.

All children and young people presenting with high risk needs are seen as a priority and are treated in a 
timely manner.  Children requiring an urgent appointment are usually seen within the same day.  There 
is an escalation process in place that families are informed about if their child’s symptoms worsen.31

CYPS – Waiting times

P
age 53



3.9 Continuing Health Care – Referrals

Referral numbers continue to average above 2018/19 figures, though numbers appear to have stabilised and

have remained consistent since August 2019. The CHC team are still 100% compliant against the location of

assessment standard (where CHC assessments are not carried out in acute hospitals apart from in exceptional

circumstances).

Despite stabilising activity, Fast track activity has remained high: Gloucestershire is an outlier in the rate for Fast

track funding provided. Reviews of patients remaining on Fast track longer than 12 weeks have been prioritised

by the team – as of November 2019 there are 81 Fast Track patients who have been receiving funding for more

than 12 weeks.

To date, 21.4% of Fast Track patients reviewed after 12 weeks remained eligible for full CHC funding (12/56

patients reviewed to date in 2019 were no longer eligible).

32

Amber

P
age 54



33

3.9 Continuing Health Care Assessments completed in 28 days Red

Top Line Messages:

Performance remains significantly below the 80% target for assessments to be carried out within 28 days of 

referral; however October 2019 performance has been improving throughout 2019/20 and latest target compliance 

is 53% (November 2019).  This reflects a slight deterioration in performance from October 2019 (which was 62%) 

however contributes to a much improved quarterly average performance, rising close to the regional average.  The 

team continue to work towards reducing the backlog of people waiting for assessment or review.

Actions to support performance include:

• Monthly audits now being completed by Business Manager to review the administration and recording of 

completed cases for full assessments, negative checklists & Fast Tracks. 

• LA assessor and agency staff in place to support backlog reduction.

• Improved communication and contact between Brokerage and care homes.

• LD agency staffing and focus on long waits for assessment and review.

P
age 55



MSK Physiotherapy:

• MSK Physiotherapy modelling suggests that demand is above capacity of the service, and that the 8 
week target cannot be delivered within the current parameters of the service.  GHC and the CCG are 
working to review performance indicators and demand and capacity.

• 75.9% patients were seen within 8 weeks in October compared to 71.2% in September against the 
target of 95%, reflecting 412 patients seen after 8 weeks.  However only 5 patients were seen beyond 
18 weeks.

Paediatric Physiotherapy:

• Performance prior to 2018/19 had been consistently above target, but has been much more volatile  
recently, with ongoing issues around staff vacancies.  The service has an internal recovery plan and 2 
additional staff (WTE) are due to commence imminently. 

• The service performance was 76.6% patients seen within 8 weeks in October compared to 72.6% in 
September.  No children were seen beyond 18 weeks.

34

3.10 Gloucestershire Health and Care – Community Services

P
age 56



35

3.11 Regional Comparison – September 2019

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

January 2020 

One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report 

 
 
 
 

 
The following report provides an update to HCOSC members on 

the progress of key programme and projects across 

Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System (ICS) to date.   

Gloucestershire’s Sustainability & Transformation Plan commenced year three of four in April 2019. 

Priorities continue to be delivered across the main transformation programmes and we have reviewed 

the plans as part of our planning work on the One Gloucestershire Long Term Plan.  In this report we 

provide an update on 2019/20 plans and the progress made against the priority delivery programmes 

and supporting enabling programmes included within the ICS. One of the roles of the ICS is to improve 

the quality of Health and Care by working in a more joined up way as a system.  

 

Gloucestershire’s ICS Plan on a page  

 

  

1. Introduction 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
The Enabling Active Communities programme looks to build a 

new sense of personal responsibility and improved independence 

for health, supporting community capacity and working with the 

voluntary and community sector.  

 
The development of the Gloucestershire Prevention and Shared Care Plan, led by Public Health, aims 

to improve health and wellbeing. It recognises that a more efficient approach to preventing ill health is 

very important. This will improve the health of the population and make an important contribution to the 

maintenance of sustainability in our ICS. 

 

Key priorities for 2019/20 will align to the refreshed Health & Wellbeing Strategy and are split across the 

4 main work streams: supporting pathways, supporting people, supporting places and communities and 

supporting our workforce.  

 

Supporting Pathways 

 

 The provider of the Tier 2 Child weight management service is in the final stage of developing 

a trial service for Gloucester and Forest of Dean. This includes establishing referral routes and 

developing ways of testing the programme. Tier 2 services focus on lifestyle changes to support 

healthly weight. 

 Tier 3 (specialist) Child weight management service clinics are due to start in January 2020.  

 As at the end of November there are now 12 people on the Gloucester Cohort and 8 people on 

the Cheltenham cohort as part of the Blue Light Change Resistant Drinkers project. There 

was more attendance at the Cheltenham meeting, with colleagues from YMCA, Police, Safe 

Spaces and Cheltenham Borough Homes.  

 Postpartum contraception - Delivery of 'contraceptive counselling' continues. The service has 

achieved a delivery rate of 100%; with 100% of women attending the service accepting 

contraceptives.  

Supporting People 

 

 The Self-Management - Live Better, Feel Better has shown positive results for how people 

manage their conditions and report their progress and concerns to health care staff. The service 

has managed to reach the right people  as planned.  

 A project has been developed which focuses on improving the quality of ‘Stop Smoking’ 

services. 

 

Supporting Places & Communities 

 

The Community Wellbeing Service (CWS) continues to make a positive impact to individuals, with 

4,314 referrals made since the service began nearly 3 years ago. Of these referrals, 73% of individuals 

have shown an improvement in their mental health. Staff within Primary Care and the CCG are working 

closely together tomake sure we have staff in the right places. 

 

We Can Move programme: 

 Stroud district council have purchased 800 falls sets to train their housing staff. A total of 717 

People have now received falls packs via community groups. These will help prevent people 

2. Enabling Active 
Communities 

Page 60



 

3 
 

from falling.  

 There are currently 155 schools taking part in The Daily Mile. The 'Big Day' campaign registered 

133 Gloucestershire primary schools, with a total of 26,380 children taking part. 27 of these 

schools had never run The Daily Mile before which was a fantastic outcome for this campaign. 

 Barton & Tredworth women's steering group have linked to the Friendship Cafe Inspire women's 

project. Monthly female-only activity sessions and Wednesday Wellbeing Evenings are being 

planned. They are working with local activity providers to help train individuals. 

 The first Active Travel session for staff was held and 2 new Action Learning Groups (young 

people and disability groups) took place in November. We are looking at how knowledge can be 

shared on line as well exploring the development of the ‘We can move’ website.  

 
Strengthening Local Communities 

 

 In the Cotswolds 13 local people have been trained to become Community Dementia Link 

Workers and in Gloucester City, Monday evening community engagement drop-ins are being run 

by an active resident. In the area.  . 

  

Supporting Workforce 

 

 Workplace Health and Wellbeing:  The Healthy Lifestyle Service has successfully recruited to 

the accreditor post. Work is underway to plan an official launch event for the new 

Gloucestershire accreditation. 

 
 

 

  

Page 61



 

4 
 

 

 
The Clinical Programme Approach has been adopted across our 

local health care system to make sure services work together to 

redesign the way care is delivered in Gloucestershire. , By 

reorganising the way care is delivered and services that deliver this 

care we can make sure that people get the right care, in the right 

place, at the right time. During 2019/20 we have identified 4 clinical 

programmes which will be moved forward more quickly.  These are 

Respiratory, Diabetes, Circulatory and Frailty & Dementia.   

Respiratory:  

Health Education England funding has been approved to continue education and training in 2019/20 

across primary care, community and acute care. This includes developing bespoke training packages 

including diagnostics, management and preventative support for teams working in Primary Care. 

 

Health Education England funding has been approved to support the education and training approach in 

2019/20 across primary care, community and acute care. There are significant opportunities for education 

across community and hospital teams including Pulmonary Rehabilitation, Leadership and Asthma. 

 

Educational video and podcast resources are being planned and developed for the Forest of Dean.  

 

There has been an agreement to change the prescription for Home Oxygen Assessment and 

detailed planning is under way. This change will enable a joined up approach to supported 

discharge to be embedded across the respiratory specialist team. 

 

Diabetes:  

The new National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) provider ICS Health and Wellbeing is working 

well and there have been 650 referrals made since August 2019. The CCG is working closely with 

Primary Care Networks to look at ways to increase referrals onto NDPP and share good practice 

examples. 

The pathway for children with Type 1 diabetes going onto Continuous Glucose Monitor is working with 50 

children in receipt of this device. The device will help manage their diabetes and reduce its complications. 

The 10 Year Diabetes Strategy has been finalised and has been approved by the Diabetes Clinical 

Programme Group in November 2019. 

The virtual clinics held by the GP Clinical Champion are progressing and working well. 

A diabetes integration workshop is taking place with Gloucester City in December 2019 to test the 

proposed way of working. 

The CCG was successful in being awarded £40,500 for using volunteering approaches to appoint a 

person/s with a lived experience of diabetes to interact with others in community setting to improve health 

& wellbeing outcomes.  

 

 

3. Clinical 
Programme 
Approach 

Page 62



 

5 
 

Circulatory:  

An evaluation workshop for the Community Stroke Rehab Unit has taken place with a report and action 

plan to follow 

 

Atrial fibrillation (AF) podcast has been recorded as part of action in Primary Care. All practices are in the 

process of completing a review of patients prescribed treatment for AF to provide assurance that patients 

are receiving the correct dose. 

 

We are looking at the journey for patients with chest pain who go to hospital. This involves working with 

the Urgent Care team to identify ways to reduce emergency admissions for this condition. 

 

Gloucestershire Hospital has commenced a quality improvement project to increase referrals to Cardiac 

Rehab. 

 

REACH-HF project for home-based rehabilitation for patients with heart failure is on track, with positive 

feedback from patients so far. 

 

The Nature on Prescription project for people who have had a cardiac event is now on the 2nd intake and 

referrals are starting to be received for the Forest of Dean as well as Gloucester, 

 

Frailty & Dementia:  

At the most recent Frailty Clinical Programme Group, the group agreed the approach to divide people into 

4 groups (pre-frail, patients living with mild frailty, patients living with moderate frailty and patients living 

with severe frailty). The definition of these groups were agreed and the approach to looking at data and 

defining appropriate interventions was also agreed. 

 

Health Education England funded Young Onset Dementia training which was delivered to Community 

Dementia Nurses and Dementia Advisors which was well received and outcomes included best practice 

examples and research. 

 

The Community Dementia Dog project has been extended to 12 months based on positive outcomes 

from mid-point review. The most effective and beneficial referral source is Social Prescribing and it is 

hoped that this can be continued. The national Dementia Dog project in Forest of Dean has seen a mix of 

regular community Dog Days and home based interventions.  

 

 
Focus on Stroke Early Supported Discharge (ESD) 

 
 

The following case studies give some insight into the support the early supported discharge team and 

approach can give to stroke patients. 

 

Mr T 

Mr T was seen over a period of 3 years and is now walking independently, managing the stairs and his 

speech continues to improve.  He has the flexibility to self-refer back to Assessment and Rehabilitation 

Unit as required. Mr T’s discharge from the Dean Hospital was expedited by ESD therefore making cost 

savings and enabling him to get home which benefitted his wellbeing and rehabilitation. The 

severity/complexity of his stroke required longer term stroke specialist intervention and there was an 

Page 63



 

6 
 

overall improvement achieved with further rehabilitation.  The fact that Mr T could access the Tewkesbury 

Assessment and Rehabilitation Unit after ESD and the community neuro physio specialist enabled him to 

achieve his goals of walking independently indoors, making a meal for himself, attending to his own 

personal care (therefore not being reliant on a package of care) and improve his cognition. 

 

Mr C 

Mr C benefitted from 12 weeks with ESD, preventing admission to another rehabilitation facility or 

needing to go out of county for treatment. Mr C had significant loss of independence with regards to his 

communication, personal care, mobility and had already had a long stay in hospital, he needed a 

significant level of input from the Occupational Therapists, Physiotherapist  and Speech and Language 

Team  over the 12 week period: 

• At 6 weeks he was walking supported with one carer, but it was evident that he was unlikely to be 

independently mobile in the future. The additional 6 weeks enabled ESD to concentrate on getting 

him out of the house, exploration of potential interests/hobbies and onward referral for Electrically 

Powered chair.  

• Mr C and his wife needed time to adjust to life after stroke. It was essential that ESD had 

adequate time to support this beyond the standard 6 weeks of service. At discharge Mr C and his 

wife felt well supported and that great progress had been made in the 12 weeks, with onward 

plans established. 

• He significantly improved in confidence in his ability to transfer, balance and mobilise with 

supervision from his wife independently in his home environment. 

•  

Mr C did not fit into the mild to moderate category of stroke and as such did not meet ESD criteria.  

However, the team accepted him because it was his best interests to receive stroke specialist input and 

because there was no other appropriate community service available. Mr C would not have been able to 

attend outpatient services at 6 weeks as he was still unable to get out of the house, get in a car, and was 

too fatigued to have managed a session if he had been taken on hospital transport. Providing longer term 

intervention at home was definitely the most appropriate service for him.  

 
 
 

 

 

  

Page 64



 

7 
 

 
The Reducing Clinical Variation programme looks to elevate key 

issues of clinical variation to ICS level. This will include having 

conversations with the public around some of the harder priority 

decisions we will need to make. This includes building on a 

different approach with primary care, promoting ‘Choosing Wisely’, 

thinking about how medicines can be used in a better way to 

reduce cost and waste, undertaking a review of diagnostic services 

and working to improve Outpatient services.  

Key priorities for 2019/20 are 

 We will continue to use the successful Prescribing Improvement Plan (PIP) to ensure that we 

continue to save money and improve benefits for as much of the year as possible. Actions 

include working with GP practices via the prescribing support team to identify and record 

beneficial changes to prescribing activity. 

 We will continue to work with Hospital colleagues to consider areas including medication choice 

and how medicines are supplied so that benefits are shared across the ICS. 

 Continue to include Medicines Optimisation topics within the annual Primary Care offer to 

support primary care colleagues to maximise savings available from prescribing in a better way 

 Continue the successful provision of the Clinical Pharmacist team working within many GP 

practices by recruiting to fill current vacancies.  

 Implement a two year programme Medicines Optimisation in Care Homes scheme, specifically in 

residential homes.  

 Develop & improve mechanisms to allow GPs to access specialist opinion/advice and guidance. 

 Develop appropriate alternatives to Hospital outpatient services where there are opportunities to 

manage patients in a less specialist and lower cost setting. 

 Support changes to how Outpatient Care in delivered across the ICS Improve how money is 

spent to commission services through changing and developing relevant policy.  

 Referrals to Hospitals will be triaged and managed using improved procedures.  A review of 

diagnostic services across the ICS will be undertaken to support programmes of change. 

What we’ve achieved so far: 

 Work within GP practices is progressing towards achievement of the 2019-2020 Prescribing 

Savings target through the updated Prescribing Improvement Plan and Primary Care agreement 

which have been combined for the first time this year.  

 Our team of Prescribing Support Pharmacists, Prescribing Support Technicians and Clinical 

Pharmacists are working with their allocated practices and provide support to help achieve 

prescribing savings for individual practices. 

 Ongoing communication with the public around changes to medicines policies including the 

prescription of over the counter (OTC) medicines. OTC medicines information leaflet, relating to 

encouraging people to buy their own medications where possible, has been updated. 

 Funding from the Primary Care Training Hub has enabled Gloucestershire CCG to run training 

days for GPs covering how to identify skin lesions and how to take high quality images. Training 

days were well received with a total of 96 GPs being trained. Further resources to continue to 

support learning have been provided on the G-care website. 

 In Rheumatology the GP practices with high numbers of inappropriate referrals have been 

identified and agreed a programme of training with GPs in Forest of Dean to improve their 

knowledge of Rheumatic Disorders. 

 A trial neurology telephone clinic commenced on 2nd November 2019. 

4. Reducing Clinical 
Variation 

Page 65



 

8 
 

 Primary care pathology referral route differences were investigated and presented at Reducing 

Clinical Variation Board (RCV). The RCV Board agreed that a series of bitesize guides for 

primary and secondary care would be beneficial. 

 The £200 million capital announcement for replacement of old (over 10 year at March 2019) 
diagnostic equipment resulted in the hospital receiving an allocation of new machines. 
 

 
New Models of Care & Place Based Model 

The One Place, One Budget, One System programme takes a 

place based approach to resources and ensures we deliver best 

value. Our community care redesign will ensure responsive 

community based care is delivered through a transformative ICS 

approach to health and social care. 

The intention is to enable people in Gloucestershire to; 

 Be more self-supporting and less dependent on health and social care services,  

 Live  in healthy communities, 

 Benefit from strong networks of community support  

 Be able to access high quality care when needed.  

New locality or Place led ‘Models of Care’ trials started in 2016/17. The trials were to ‘test and learn’ 

from this process including benefits, challenges and working across organisational boundaries. This led 

to the formation of 16 locality networks/ Places across the county. 

Key priorities for 2019/20 are 

 Senior leaders from health and social care, locally elected government and non-professional 

representatives are working together to inform and support integration at Primary Care Network 

(PCN) level.  This will help with unlocking issues and sharing responsibility for finding local 

solutions to deliver ICS priorities and tackling issues which arise for their population which can 

only be resolved by working together. . 

 Clinically-led integration, involving staff and local people in decisions, to support more people in 

the community and out of hospital. 

 Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILP) plan to deliver an approach which concentrates on their 

population which includes keeping people healthy (prevention) and public health. The agreed 

priorities will help to improve health and wellbeing for their population.   

 Develop how teams made up of different health and social care staff will work together at a PCN 

level. 

What we’ve achieved so far: 

 Wave 2 Population Health Management Programme commenced across Cheltenham Integrated 

Locality partnership with an initial workshop held in November 2019. This will support the three 

primary care networks in Cheltenham to focus on the needs of their patients using data from 

across the system to tailor services to those who are at greatest need. 

 A number of projects continue to progress across each of the geographies, with particular focus 

on new ways of working, MDTs, Community Dementia, Frailty and Care Homes.    

 Planned launch of the Tewkesbury Integrated Locality Partnership on 10th December. 

 
South Cotswolds Frailty Service 

 Flu’ clinic packs have been assembled and Wellbeing Coordinators have dates in their diary to 

5a. One Place, One 
Budget, One System 

Page 66



 

9 
 

attend the clinics. 

 Work continues to look at identifying and supporting people who are at the End of Life.  This 

includes supporting GP practices and looking at how patients can be supported to call the Frailty 

Team directly. This will help make sure that resources are used correctly  and free up Frailty 

team time 

 Aiming to improve partnership working with Cirencester Community Hospital 

 Development of a communications and training plan for the Ambulance Trust, to include “Me @ 

My Best” and training on managing frailty in urgent situations is being developed. 

 
 
 

Fit For The Future 

Our vision for Urgent Care will deliver the right care for patients, 

when they need it. In order to make this vision a reality and provide 

safe and sustainable services into the future, we need to consider 

how to make best use our resources, facilities and beds in hospitals 

and in the community. 

We want to improve arrangements for patients to access timely and senior clinical decision making 

about their treatment and ensure specialist support is accessed as soon as possible. We propose 

potentially changing the way some care and support is organised in Gloucestershire to meet changing 

demands, make best use of our staff, their skills and the money we have.  

 

Regular updates on the Fit for the Future Programme have been shared with HOSC, describing how the 

programme aims to deliver an integrated urgent care system and hospital centres of excellence to 

ensure we realise the vision for urgent care.  

 

Our key deliverables for 2019/20 include; 

 Continue to develop and refine the “Fit for the Future” strategy focussing upon development of 

same day urgent care services, Centres of Excellence and Integrated Urgent Care (Clinical 

Advice and Assessment Service). 

 To further develop and deliver plans identified within the Emergency Department attendance ( 

A&E) admission avoidance programme and length of stay management. 

 To further develop and deliver plans which look at the journey patients take from the time they 

are admitted until discharge which will reduce bed occupancy of long stay patients by 25%: 

 To further develop and deliver plans identified within the Community Admission Prevention 

programme. 

 To further develop and deliver plans identified within the Find and Prevent programme. 

 
Current progress 

An independently chaired Engagement Hearing took place on the 24th October in public and live 

streamed; giving people an opportunity to share their ideas and views on developing urgent and 

specialist hospital care in Gloucestershire in the future. The Hearing was also an opportunity for 

individuals and groups to discuss their views about what they think should be taken into account in 

arriving at the best solutions for services. A group of experienced doctors and other healthcare 

professionals made up the panel on the day.  

 

Following the programme ‘pause’ for the Citizen’s Jury and Solutions Appraisal Exercise will progress in 

January and February respectively. The dates and details of any public events will be available on our 

5b. One Place, One 
Budget, One System 

Page 67



 

10 
 

website. Health partners in Gloucestershire would like to thank everyone who has taken the time to 

share their views and ideas as part of the public engagement programme that was launched in August. 

All feedback received is being collated into a comprehensive Engagement Report and this will be used 

to inform the development of potential solutions for the future local NHS services. The report will be 

made public in the new year.  

 

 
 

 

Our vision for future Health and Social Care in 

Gloucestershire is supported by our enabling programmes. 

These are   working to ensure that the ICS has the right 

capacity and capability to deliver on the clinical priorities 

which have been identified. 

 
Joint IT Strategy: Local Digital Roadmap 

 Cinapsis (an Advice and Guidance system), has now been rolled out to 58 practices across the 

county. This supports GPs and hospital consultants and other clinical staff communicating to 

support GPs with advice for patients on a quick turnaround. 

 Joining Up Your Information (JUYI) is being viewed 240 times a day on average supporting the 

sharing of information across our health and care providers. 

 26% of patients are now registered for online primary care digital services. 

 A Children’s & Young People Mental Health digital bid has been submitted for central support to 

develop an online portal for young people to manage their appointments, advice, message their 

therapist and access a moderated group chat 

 

Joint Workforce Strategy 

The following 2019/20 Workforce Development Projects have been signed off by Health Education 

England and therefore supported with funding; 

 Advancing Practice, 

 Apprenticeship Hub supporting us to continue to provide excellent apprenticeships in health and 

care roles, 

 Support to the clinical programmes (see section 3) 

 Primary Care Network (PCN) Health Coaching Skills Training, 

 Gloucestershire Improvement Community Programme, 

 Outpatients and Upskilling Allied Healthcare Professionals in Ophthalmology Clinics. 

 

The Gloucestershire Leadership Programme is progressing well and positive feedback has been 

received. In terms of cohorts; 

 Cohort 3 (Urgent Care) has finished the programme; 

 Cohort 4 (Dementia & Frailty) remains ongoing; 

 Cohort 5 (CVD & Diabetes) remains ongoing; and 

 Cohort 6 (Respiratory & End of Life Care) remains ongoing. 

 

We held our first workshop to look at the whole system impact of the promoted new roles in primary 

care. This focused around pharmacists and working together as a system to support the best way to 

deliver these new roles.  

 

6. Enabling 
Programmes 

Page 68



 

11 
 

 

Joint Estates Strategy 

The ICS Estates Strategy is being developed which brings together updated organisational estates 

strategies of each partner organisation, as part of the long term plan. An updated Primary Care 

Infrastructure Plan with plans up to 2026 is being drafted and developed. The South Western 

Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust strategy for future estate provision will deliver a range of operational 

sites. These will consist of the development of new Hubs (Make Ready Centres) mainly close to Acute 

hospitals and supported by a network of Book On locations (staff start and finish shifts) and Spokes 

(standby points). Each Hub will be subject to a detailed Business Case for approval by the Trust. The 

proposal for a new Minchinhampton surgery has been approved. 

 

Primary Care Strategy 

Our first ICS digital primary care priority is to have a main offer for all practices.  It will test further digital 

improvements to establish the benefits for patients and GP practices. At the same time it will keep an 

eye to the future developments with 111 Online and the NHS App roll out. 

The 2019-2024 Primary Care Strategy must demonstrate how the ICS will: 

 enable services to remain flexible and sustainable, 

 improve integration and partnership working, 

 detail priorities and  how these will be achieved, 

 describe how Primary Care Networks will be the focus as the key enabler to the strategy. 

 

Developing the Primary Care Workforce: A number of schemes are ongoing to help develop and 

improve the Primary Care Workforce. We have continued the Care Navigation trial with a training 

provider. Roles Reimbursement scheme is continuing with a Gloucestershire ICS stakeholder workshop 

for Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation taking place in 10 December 2019. There are Three GPs 

currently on the Health Equalities Fellowships scheme.  The Primary Care Workforce website has been 

developed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Focus on Digital Technology 
 

 

Our vision is to work together to deliver digital convergence and collaboration across the ICS and to 

ensure that digital technology is one of the key drivers facilitating service transformation and 

sustainability. We will invest in a sustainable and underpinning technical infrastructure to support the 

delivery of transformational service changes, driven by care professionals and focused on empowering 

people to take control of their own health and care. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



 

12 
 

Doing Things Differently 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

So Far…. 

 The first phase of the new Hospital Electronic Patient Record went live in Gloucester Royal 

Hospital in December. This started with electronic documentation, tracking boards and a clinical 

record portal, which also allows access to a Shared Care Records. Time savings for staff as well 

as improved quality of care are already being evidenced, helped by a high level of engagement 

from nursing staff in In-patient wards. 

 The clinician to clinician messaging pilot, called Cinapsis, has been rolled out to 68 GP practices 

and the frailty service. This allows GPs to seek specialist advice on patients that may need to be 

sent to urgent care services and dermatology services. Early feedback on the impacts are 

positive  

 Funding has been awarded to the hospital and mental health services in Gloucestershire to 

implement Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration. This will improve safety and 

efficiency significantly compared to the paper based mechanisms in place currently. 

 40 new GP websites have gone live, including new capabilities to do online messaging from 

patients to the practices. A programme of support is being developed for best usage and 

benefits from increasing usage of digital primary care services. 

 A new Gloucestershire Digital Technology professional network has been established called 

Glos Care Informatics. The Academic Health Science Network has sponsored the first two 

events and speakers have been lined up for the next two from national and local teams. The 

group aims to increase the network, skills and knowledge of technology and health care staff in 

the county. This includes introducing aspiring informaticians to the career pathways and 

opportunities to learn more.  

 

Page 70



 

13 
 

 As a Wave 2 Integrated Care System we are working towards 

increased integration to improve health and wellbeing, we 

believe that by all working better together, in a more joined up 

way, and using the strengths of individuals, carers and local 

communities, we will transform the quality of care and support 

we provide to local people. 

 
The System Development work stream captures the work to develop the overarching ICS programme. 

The responsibilities of this programme are as follows: 

 Provide Programme Direction to the Gloucestershire ICS 

 Manage a Communications and Engagement approach on behalf of the ICS, including ensuring the 

Health and Social Care Act duties regarding significant services changes are met in relationship to 

the ICS 

 Ensure the ICS has a robust resources plan in place that all ICS partners are signed up to and that 

is aligned to organisational level plans. 

 To ensure that the ICS has clear governance and performance management in place to ensure the 

system can manage and oversee delivery. 

 

Our key achievements made since the last report include; 

 Dame Gill Morgan has been appointed as Independent Chair of the One Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) and will take up her role in January 2020. Gill has enjoyed a long and 
distinguished career in the NHS and third sector at national and local level. She has extensive 
leadership experience having held a number of senior roles including Chair of the Alzheimer’s 
Society, Chief Executive of the NHS Confederation and Chief Executive of North and East Devon 
Health Authority. She has also been a Permanent Secretary in the Welsh Government. More 
recently Gill has been Chair of NHS Providers since 2014, Vice Chair of the Lloyds’ Bank 
Foundation for England and Wales, Commissioner (Vice Chair) for the review of physical and sexual 
abuse in women suffering multiple disadvantages and is Patron of the Infection Prevention Society. 
We are excited to welcome her to the One Gloucestershire system. 

 One Gloucestershire ICS Web ‘Bitesize’ Priority Summaries: A useful resource for community 
partners and health and care professionals these summaries cover everything from active 
communities to transforming services. The summaries cover what we are doing as a partnership, a 
case study and highlight our plans going forward. The first 16 summaries have recently been added 
to the onegloucestershire.net website and provide a ‘bitesize’ overview of ICS priorities. A further 13 
are in production. The summaries can be found at https://www.onegloucestershire.net/  

 The third draft of the One Gloucestershire Long Term Plan response has been submitted and the 
overall shift in compliance was positive. The plan is moving towards finalisation in early January with 
a plan to publish a public facing guide and the full narrative plan. 

 A number of system wide strategies are progressing rapidly including outpatients, digital, primary 
care, Health & Wellbeing Strategy and the Prevention & Inequalities Framework. 

 
 
 
 

 
This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are 

invited to note the contents.  

 

Mary Hutton  

ICS Lead, One Gloucestershire ICS  

 

8. Recommendations 

7. Integrated Care 
System 

Page 71

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 
 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and  
Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

14 January 2020  

 
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG)  

Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer’s Report  
 
1. Introduction 

 

Section A provides a general NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 

Group (GCCG) commissioner update, incorporating a national consultation 

section.  
Section B provides a CCG commissioner update focussing on primary medical 

care. 
Section C provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care 

NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust (GHT). 

 

Integrated Care System (ICS) 

ICS Lead Report is provided as a separate agenda item. 

 

2. Section A: Local NHS Commissioner Update, 

 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 (GCCG)   
 

These are items are for information and noting. 

Please note some of the items reported below may also feature in more detail in 

other reports prepared for HCOSC e.g. ICS Lead Report, wherever possible 

duplication is avoided. 

 

2.1 Fit for the Future engagement: Developing urgent and hospital care in 

 Gloucestershire 

The Output of Engagement for Fit for the Future is included as a separate agenda 

item. 

 

2.2 Stop! Think…campaign set for re-launch 
The NHS in Gloucestershire re-launched its high profile Stop! Think… winter 
campaign at the end of November 2019. The hard hitting campaign promotes 
simple messages about what to do if residents are ill or injured and highlights the 
different healthcare options available across Gloucestershire so people can access 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



 

 2 

the right advice and care for them, easing the pressure on A&E. The campaign that 
lasts over a three month period includes: 
 

 High impact video content 

 A strong digital element to the campaign e.g. sponsored social media 

adverts 

 Integrated media packages – print, on-line and social media 

 Door to door advertising through ‘Local Answer’ 

 Eye catching collateral e.g. posters and concertina credit cards promoting 

the community service offer 

 Collateral for local outlets, waiting room screens, community publications, 

community social media accounts and ‘Top 10’ employers 

 Outdoor advertising. 

 
Evaluation will be carried out through a service point survey, review of digital take 
up e.g. shares, downloads, views etc. and performance monitoring. 

 

2.3 Adverse Childhood Experiences 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partners have set themselves a very 
ambitious target – to produce viral change and embed ACEs and trauma informed 
care across Gloucestershire. The aim is to change our approach to situations from 
‘why did you do that?’ to ‘what has happened to you? 
 
Gloucestershire remains at the forefront in this area health have agreed to own 
and drive this change process and the funding of a Lead Health role for ACEs 
embedded in Safeguarding Children. This has enabled Health to be fully 
committed to challenging professionals to review their practice in the knowledge of 
the impact of trauma and to focus on improving outcomes by building resilience 
Within children’s services: 

 Health professionals have received an awareness training session as part of 

mandatory training. 

 Midwifery has developed a maternity screening tool (which is currently being 

evaluated). The aim is to link with Early Help and improve outcomes for the 

unborn baby. 

 A number of teams have been involved in piloting the Children’s Services 

ACEs toolkit facilitating better multi-agency working. 

 ACEs/trauma are fundamental elements in the delivery of the Trailblazers 

programme and embedded in Crisis working teams/CIC teams etc. 

 ACEs were the focus of the Annual Safeguarding update for Train the 

Trainer for GPs last year. A group of GPs are now working to produce 

videos and toolkits for use in GP practices. 

 All new training materials are incorporating the work on ACEs/trauma with 

the focus to build resilience within individuals and communities. 

 The updated training strategy is being launched with new training material 

including an e-learning programme. 

 There has been a showcase event where professionals from other counties 

and NHS England attended as they had heard of our work and have used 

various materials we have developed to begin their own programmes. 

Page 74



 

 3 

 There was a very successful Ambassadors meeting to define their roles and 

where stories were shared as to how we can make a difference (the 

demand was so great a further meeting is planned for the New Year).  

 There are plans for a further ACEs Conference in June 2020 to update 

professionals and to continue to work on ‘so what?’ – how do we improve 

outcomes? 

8 
The above is a small selection of some of the work undertaken and planned. There 
is a website that provides additional resources/contacts. The view is that change 
has begun and it needs to continue to drive it with Health being an integral partner 

 

2.4 Integrated Care System (ICS) Workforce and Organisational 
 Development update 

Gloucestershire Health and Care partners have set up a Local Workforce Action 
Board (LWAB) to work jointly on a workforce and organisational development 
strategy that supports the desire to work together and provide solutions and 
services to meet the needs of the local population. The LWAB is chaired by the 
ICS Lead and has representation from directors of human resources, as well as 
Human Resources (HR) / Organisational Development (OD) professionals from 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC), Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHFT), Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), 
South West Ambulance Service (SWAST) and Health Education England (HEE) 
and Staff Side representatives. 
 
The ICS Joint Workforce and OD Strategy has nine key objectives: 

 Develop a shared culture across One Gloucestershire moving from 

organisation to system culture along with exemplary leadership skills and 

make belonging to One Gloucestershire an attractive prospect. 

 Person- and Community-Led ways of working need to become widely 

understood and valued as core to the whole health and care system. 

 Improvement - Develop a culture that holds a patient/service user focus and 

improvement of services for patients/service users at its heart. 

 Enable Right Skills to deliver ICS Clinical Priorities - Ensure cohesive and 

cost effective systems are in place. 

 Effective ICS education system - Develop systems with local education 

providers to support all workforce development. 

 Ensure that One Gloucestershire is at the forefront of apprenticeship 

developments to capitalise on those developments at post-graduate level to 

develop advanced skills and to ensure that the maximum use is made of the 

apprenticeship levy. 

 Ensure sufficient resources (capacity and skills) across the system to 

support the workforce planning, analysis and modelling required to support 

the Clinical Programme delivery required by the ICS. 

 Recruitment and Supply - Develop a shared and streamlined system for 

attracting and employing new staff across One Gloucestershire. 

 Work collaboratively across the One Gloucestershire system to describe 

and design the workforce and the ways that workforce will work together in 

Page 75



 

 4 

the future. The focus will be on sustainability, flexibility, career pathways, 

rotations and supply. 

 
2.4.1 Key priorities 

In line with the Long Term Plan there are three distinct priorities for our HR / OD 
strategy: 

 Making the NHS the Best Place To Work 

 Improving the Leadership Culture 

 Releasing Time to Care. 

 
2.4.2 Making the NHS the Best Place to Work 

HR and OD colleagues are currently working on a number of joint initiatives as well 
as pursuing individual organisation projects, where learning and best practice is 
shared. This includes: Talent Management / Succession Planning. The ICS 
partners have chosen to pilot the new NHS High Potential Scheme with the 
Leadership Academy that aims to support leaders with potential by providing them 
with a structure development programme. The scheme will be rolled out in 2020. 

 
2.4.3 Staff Health and Wellbeing.  

A One Gloucestershire approach to health and wellbeing is being planned, building 
on the work already undertaken by health and care organisations to support staff 
with health and wellbeing. This includes schemes such as Health and Hustle – 
getting staff active, training staff in Mental Health First Aid, fast track’ access to 
support for staff with musculoskeletal issues, access to occupational health 
services, counselling and mindfulness sessions as well as courses in stress 
management. The introduction of GHFT’s ‘Health and Wellbeing Hub’ where staff 
can ask questions/be signposted to resources and obtain support is an exemplar of 
best practice. The learning from this initiative is currently being shared with ICS 
partners and the CCG’s Health and Wellbeing intranet pages are modelled on this 
work. 

 
2.4.4 Equality & Diversity 

There are numerous schemes that ICS partners have implemented as part of their 
commitment to ensuring that everyone regardless of their ability or disability have 
the same opportunities to access meaningful occupation. This includes Disability 
Confident accreditation, signing up to Going the Extra Mile (GEM) - the GEM 
programme supports vulnerable young people to get into the workplace. There are 
also plans to implement the 30/30 challenge that provides work based learning 
opportunities to vulnerable and disabled young people, in early 2020 within the 
CCG, as well as Better 2 Work scheme, which provides support to people with 
mental health difficulties currently run by GHC. There are also plans to introduce a 
Black and Minority Ethnic coaching and mentoring network. Additionally all NHS 
organisations have targeted recruitment of Non-Executive Directors \ Lay Members 
for BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) requirements. For example the CCG 
was part of the Insight Programme in 2018 that placed a BAME Lay Member with 
the CCG for 6 months. Unfortunately the programme is not running in the south 
west during 2019. 

 
The OD Steering Group will introduce Equality, Diversity and Inclusion as one of 
the primary drivers to deliver our aspirations around leadership, culture, values, 
coaching and health-wellbeing during 2020. We will focus on identifying specific 
actions we can collaborate on and work together to support minority groups which 

 are more vulnerable to discrimination. In particular BAME and disabled colleagues. 

Page 76



 

 5 

 
2.4.5 Improving the Leadership Culture 

ICS partners have collaborated on a range of programmes to improve leadership 
at all levels of an organisation. The plans will be further enhanced during 2020; 
they seek to improve leadership culture with a focus on better care through: 
positive leadership; compassionate leadership and improvement focused 
leadership. The following schemes / programmes have been implemented: 
 

2.4.6 Gloucestershire Leadership Development Programme  
Developed in 2018, funded via HEE monies, the Gloucestershire Leadership 
Development Programme was delivered to 48 leaders (comprising two cohorts of 
24 leaders) across health and care organisations. The programme was aimed at 
leaders working at a strategic level, who were informing and developing service 
improvements across health and care organisations. In 2019 a second wave was 
commissioned using HEE and Leadership Academy funding; it was broadened to 
include leaders from GCC, voluntary and community groups, GP practice staff, 
SWAST and the Police. During 2019 / 20 there will be 4 cohorts of leaders trained 
(a total of 96 leaders). Each cohort has run with a different focus: Urgent Care; 
Dementia & Frailty; CVD & Diabetes; Respiratory & End of Life Care – delegates 
from these work areas have been encouraged to attend. Alumni from previous 
cohorts are supporting ICS wide projects and initiatives and Alumni from the new 
19/20 cohorts will be encouraged to take part in cross-system initiatives. 

 
2.4.7 Training and development 

Each ICS organisation has a training and development programme. The CCG is 
currently hosting the Training Hub for General Practice that provides learning and 
development opportunities to general practice staff. GCC has implemented an 
Adult Social Care Leadership and Management Development Pathway open to 
GCC staff; GHFT has established a coaching faculty of 20 qualified coaches with 
GHC working on a coaching culture for the newly merged trust. The CCG has a 
coaching scheme currently operating with three qualified ILM coaches offering 6-
10 coaching sessions for staff who have expressed an interest in being coached. 
 

2.4.8 Releasing Time to Care 
ICS partners are working collaboratively to improve productivity and efficiency in 
line with the Lord Carter recommendations including: 

 Using technological solutions such as eJob Planning and eRostering. 

 Reducing agency spend and looking at more flexible and collaborative 

ways to recruit and employ staff. 
 
2.4.9 Identifying opportunities from the Model Hospital work. 

A range of technological solutions have been implemented by provider 
organisations to better plan their day to day workforce requirements including e-
rostering, an employees’ relation tracker to enable HR Advisory services to better 
support staff and managers with grievances, sickness management and 
disciplinary cases, and the SafeCare Live acuity and dependency measuring tool. 
All organisations have plans in place to reduce agency spend, improve the 
recruitment of permanent staff and offer flexible employment opportunities to staff. 
A 5-year workforce plan is being developed which establishes existing gaps and 
future gaps. It was informed by series of workforce planning workshops held during 
the summer 2019 with clinical, operations, HR and workforce teams. 

 
 

Page 77



 

 6 

 
2.5 Carers update 

The jointly commissioned Adult Carers Support Service, provided by 
Gloucestershire Carers Hub, has been operational for 6 months. Transition from 
the incumbent provider has been smooth and mobilisation has been going well. 
Robust monitoring of our providers continues, with strategic support from 
commissioners to ensure carers are valued, empowered and respected across 
Gloucestershire. 
 
Key highlights include: 

 
2.5.1 Continued improvement of the Carers Emergency Scheme  

A project team, with membership from commissioners and providers, completed 
the Quality, Service Improvement and Redesign course and as a result has 
reviewed and streamlined the registration paperwork. A recent visit to Amica24, 
where the activation calls are taken, proved helpful to ensure the process is robust. 
Support for carers will be a particular focus during the Breaking the Cycle week at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital in November 2019. As part of this people will be 
working closely together to 
ensure as many carers as possible register with the Carers Emergency Scheme, 
and staff will then continue to promote the scheme throughout the winter period. 

 
2.5.2 The Carers Partnership Board has met twice  

This board has representation across the system, including from Adult Social Care 
Operations, GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire Health and Care Foundation Trust, Primary 
Care, providers, the Voluntary and Community Sector and carers themselves. The 
Board will be co-chaired by two carers and we are currently recruiting to these 
roles. It is a very vibrant and energised board which is encouraged by seeing our 
commitment to carers in our response to the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 
2.5.3 Improved access to training for carers  

The November and December 2019 Carers Training schedule has been published 
and take up has so far proved successful. Alongside the traditional Positive Caring 
Programme (which will be reviewed and refreshed in 2020), there have been 
Wellbeing Sessions that include half day training on topics such as ‘Getting a good 
night’s sleep’ and ‘compassion fatigue’. Feedback includes:  
 

She has the ability to establish rapport with people very quickly. 
 
The session was extremely interactive and our group members were all 
given the opportunity to discuss their anxieties. The trainer enabled us to 
'offload' and gave sound suggestions as to how we could think positively 
and problem solve. 

 
Training has also broadened out to include other topics such as ‘Developing a 
Personal Resilience Plan’ and ‘Eating Well on a Budget with limited Time’. 
Gloucestershire Carers Hub has also started working in partnership with local 
organisations to ensure their partner’s training is accessible to carers. 

 
2.5.4 Recognising the impact of isolation 

A key area of concern among adult carers regarding their perceived quality of life is 
social isolation. The importance of addressing this is recognised and therefore one 
of the key indicators proposed for measuring the success of the Gloucestershire 

Page 78



 

 7 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2030 is to improve the percentage of 
adult carers who have as much social contact as they would like. 

 
2.5.5 Continued staff development in Gloucestershire Carers Hub 

Staff have had initial training in the Three Conversation Model and discussions are 
in place about embedding this culture to ensure carers are supported to be 
empowered to connect with their local community. This can be especially hard for 
carers, who are often isolated due to their caring role. The new key worker roles, 
with two workers based in each locality, will help with this. 

 
2.5.6 Supporting carers from Black and Minority Ethnic Communities  

An event was recently held at the Friendship Café in Gloucester. Over 90 carers 
from BME communities attended and heard about the support available in the 
community, including the Carers Emergency Scheme. The event had good energy 
and we will continue to build on this work. 

 
2.5.7 Supporting Parent Carers  

Meetings have taken place with a number of parent carers over the last few 
months and the plan is to improve the support available to them from the Carers 
Hub; this will sit alongside the re-establishment of the Parent Carers Forum In 
Gloucestershire and the work of the GCC engagement officer. 

 
2.5.8 Young Carers awareness raising with GPs  

Supported by local charity and service provider Gloucestershire Young Carers, 
local young carers have filmed “Young Carers’ top tips for GPs” and these are 
available on the G Care portal. Gloucestershire Young Carers will shortly launch a 
new process whereby, with consent, the names of newly referred young carers will 
routinely be shared with their GP. Where a practice is alerted for the first time, they 
will also receive their GP resource pack which includes these local top tips for 
GP’s, information to support the new CQC Quality Markers and online resources. 

 
2.6 Procurement update 

Procurement staff are now in the process of re-procuring direct access 
Computerised Tomography, Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Endoscopy 
services. The new services are expected to mobilise in July 2020 on an Any 
Qualified Provider contract basis. In addition a further AQP procurement is being 
scoped for the provision of Assisted Conception / IVF services. 

 
2.7 Planned Care  
 
2.7.1 Dermatology Training Day - 10 October 2019 

Gloucestershire CCG in conjunction with Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (GHFT) are working together to move towards a virtual model for 
dermatology. The aim is for clinicians in primary and secondary care will work 
together towards a virtual model of rapid diagnosis of skin conditions; particularly 
skin lesions, and deliver the most appropriate treatment, in the right place and at 
the right time.  
 
Funding from the Primary Care Training Hub has enabled Gloucestershire CCG to 
provide training sessions to all clinicians within GP practices in Gloucestershire to 
support this vision. The first training day was held in March 2019. This day was 
extremely successful and subsequently another training day was held on 10 
October 2019. The training days are an opportunity for GPs to learn how to identify 
skin lesions and to learn how to use a dermatoscope to take high quality 9images 

Page 79



 

 8 

with a smartphone and access rapid specialist advice from a dermatology 
consultant. Both training days were well received with over 50 GPs attending the 
first training day, and 40 attending the day in October. Feedback from both days 
was excellent with comments as below: 

 
Excellent session - this will certainly help me refer less on a 2ww. I feel 
much more confident and empowered now with skin lesions, I feel my 
patients will benefit hugely. Thank you!! 
 
Looking forward to save more lesions! Very useful for my day to day work. 
Very grateful. Thank you. Very GP focused which is great. 
 
Thank you. I feel enthused to have learnt a new skill and look forward to 
applying the skills. 

 
Further resources to continue to support learning have been provided on G-care 
website dermatology educational resources section. This includes a dermoscopy 
quiz to reinforce some of the learning from the training day, along with four videos 
which include how to use a dermatoscope and how to request advice and 
guidance. 
 

2.7.2 Cinapsis update 
The Cinapsis dermatology module went live on 16 September 2019. Cinapsis 
provides a combined Information Governance (IG) compliant solution for capturing 
images using a smartphone with a secure end to end Advice and Guidance 
platform to allow GPs to quickly and easily seek specialist advice on skin 
conditions from local dermatologists. This represents an important upgrade to the 
local tele-dermatology offer to support further expansion of this service. A total of 
93 requests have been made via Cinapsis since the launch of the service, with 
60% of requests resulting in advice to support the GP to manage the patient in 
primary care. Feedback to date from consultants and GPs has been very positive. 
Dermatology Advice and Guidance continues to be available for GPs to use 
alongside Cinapsis, but it is anticipated that the benefits of Cinapsis will gradually 
encourage GPs to move over to the new platform.  
 

2.7.3 Gloucestershire Dietitian’s Network Event 
Gloucestershire NHS Community Dietitian’s Network, a collaboration of the six 
dietitians working across GHC and GCCG came together on 6th November to host 
an educational event for 50 nurses working in GP practices and community nursing 
teams in Gloucestershire. This was the first event of its kind in Gloucestershire and 
Professor Jane Melton, Professional Lead for Allied Health Professionals- One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System, gave the opening address and described 
the event as: ‘a fabulous, pioneering and visionary training day……… a great 
example of actions taken to ensure the best, holistic care and collaborative 
nutritional practice’. The feedback from the event showed that that all attendees 
increased their confidence in providing nutrition and dietary advice to their service 
users, and would increase the frequency that they do this. 
 

2.8 Future changes to the Friends and Family Test (FFT) 
NHSE shared news of changes to the FFT in July 2019. These are based on the 
findings from the FFT Review Project NHSE ran between June 2018 and March 
2019, in which GCCG participated. 
 

Page 80



 

 9 

The recommendations were accepted, almost in their entirety, and NHSE have 
detailed the new processes in revised guidance published in early September 2019 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/fft-guidance/  The changes NHSE mean that from 
April 2020: 

 All providers will use a new FFT mandatory question and six new response 

options; 

 NHSE will have removed mandatory timescales where some services are 

currently required to seek feedback from users within a specific period, 

which affects emergency departments, inpatients and maternity, to allow 

more local flexibility and enable people to give feedback at any time, in line 

with other services; 

 NHSE will have greater emphasis on use of the FFT feedback to drive 

improvement; 

 NHSE will be well advanced in exploring new, more flexible, arrangements 

for ambulance services where the FFT has proved difficult to implement in 

practice. 

 NHSE have published a set of Frequently Asked Questions about the 

changes. https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friends-and-family-

testdevelopment-project-2018-19/faqs/ 

 
NHS has published a refreshed set of FFT case studies on our 
website. You can find them at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friendsand-family-
test-development-project-2018-19/case-studies/ 

 

2.9 Care Quality Commission Inspections 
 
2.9.1 CareUK 111 

CareUK 111 Southwest has recently been inspected by the CQC and was rated as 
‘Outstanding’. CareUK believe they are the first 111 provider to be rated as 
‘Outstanding’. 
The full inspection report can be read online at: 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAJ2441.Pdf 
 
Particularly noteworthy comments about CareUK 111 include:  

 a well-embedded culture of high quality sustainable care 

 a strong focus on continuous learning, quality improvement and 

 risk management from complaints and incidents and 

 performance management which included joint working and 

 shared governance with partner organisations 

 a strong focus on staff wellbeing. 

 a strong focus on continuous learning and improvement at all 

 levels of the organisation 

 the service routinely reviewed the effectiveness and 

 appropriateness of the care it provided. 

 
The CCG has written to CareUK to congratulate them on their achievement. 
 
 

 

Page 81

https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/fft-guidance/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friends-and-family-testdevelopment-project-2018-19/faqs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friends-and-family-testdevelopment-project-2018-19/faqs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friendsand-family-test-development-project-2018-19/case-studies/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/friendsand-family-test-development-project-2018-19/case-studies/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAJ2441.Pdf


 

 10 

2.9.2 Care UK Out of Hours Service (OOH) 
The OOH Services was inspected by CQC and the report has been published. The 
organisation received a ‘Requires Improvement’ rating. The CCG is working with 
the organisation to agree the improvement plan and will monitor implementation. 
 

2.10 Therapy programme for budding magicians returns to Gloucestershire 
A Breathe Magic Intensive Therapy programme is seeking young people aged 
between 7 and 18 affected by hemiplegia to take part when it returns to 
Gloucestershire in 2020. Part of Gloucestershire’s nationally recognised Social 
Prescribing programme, NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group has 
teamed up with Breathe Arts Health Research to offer a 10 day ‘Magic Camp’ 
during April 2020. 
 
The innovative, award-winning clinical programme uses specially chosen magic 
tricks that combine occupational therapy and creativity to help children with 
hemiplegia to build strength and dexterity in their affected arm and hand. The aim 
is to significantly improve the young people’s hand function, social interaction, 
confidence and independence over the course of the programme – and it works. 
Clinical research on the programme has shown that between 75% and 92% of 
children have clinically significant improvements in hand function after the Breathe 
Magic camp. Taught by professional Magic Circle magicians and occupational 
therapists, the programme offers 60 hours of one to one therapy over a 10 day 
camp, where Breathe combine the learning of magic tricks with a focus on 
everyday activities such as cutting up food, or crafts. 
 
Seven local children were involved in the first phase of the programme in April 
2019. The camp will return to Gloucestershire in April 2020 and will culminate in a 
special Magic Show involving the young people at the Parabola Arts Centre, 
Cheltenham Ladies College. Families with young people affected by hemiplegia 
who may be interested in joining the 2020 programme can either register their 
interest directly on the Breathe website (breatheahr.org/referral-form/), or sign up 
to come to a taster day on 18th January to find out more. 
 
Gloucestershire is leading the way nationally in using innovative arts and crafts 
initiatives to empower and support people with long term health conditions. This 
can take many forms, but common benefits include an increase in confidence and 
personal skills, improved wellbeing and in many cases less reliance on health and 
care services. The programme has been partly funded by NHS Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 

2.11 Community phlebotomy services project 
Community phlebotomy services are currently provided in a range of settings and 
locations within Gloucestershire.  Patients might attend a ‘drop in’ hospital clinic 
provided by Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation Trust (GHFT) to have their 
blood taken or they might make an appointment to have this done within their own 
GP Practice.  Where patients have their blood taken will sometimes be decided 
based on their current health needs / status but it might also depend on the 
services available to them locally.  The varying provision of community phlebotomy 
services within Gloucestershire is linked to historic commissioning arrangements 
that were made some time ago.   
 
The hospital based drop in services have also been under pressure and due to the 
current demand for this service, patients attending are regularly experiencing long 
waiting times for blood tests.  These increased waiting times have at times led to 

Page 82



 

 11 

these services closing earlier than scheduled in order to safely manage the 
number of patients waiting, with some patients then needing to come back on 
another date to have their blood taken.   
 
We aim to improve patient experience by looking find ways in which to better 
manage the current demand on the hospital based services.  Our aim is to ensure 
patients get timely access to a safe and high quality community phlebotomy 
service at a location as close to their home as possible.  As there are no national 
access targets that relate to phlebotomy we will look to ensure patients’ needs are 
met based on their clinical needs. 
 
The onward analysis and reporting of any blood test is outside of the scope of this 
project.  We expect pathology results to be reported on within clinically acceptable 
timeframes (which are supported by national guidance where it exists) and 
communicated back to the referrer without delay.   

 
2.12 Cllr Roger Wilson 

The CCG was very sorry to hear of the passing of Cllr Roger Wilson on 8 

December 2019. Roger had been a member of the Health and Care Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee from May 2013, becoming Vice-chair of the committee in July 

2015 until May 2017. He went on to Chair the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

was a member of the CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee.  CCG 

Members and staff greatly valued his contribution to our joint work to improve the 

health and wellbeing of the people of Gloucestershire. We will miss his advice, 

always given with fairness. 

 

2.13 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
The Health and Wellbeing Board meets on five occasions throughout the year. 
Members include representatives from across Gloucestershire’s health, care and 
public sector agencies.  At the September 2019 meeting the Board considered 
reports on Housing and Health, Healthy Weight, the NHS Long Term Plan, the 
Better Care Fund Plan as well as the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report. 
Agendas and papers for board meetings are available from Gloucestershire 
County Council’s website: http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents 

 

3. Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England 

 Consultations 

 

3.1 Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 

 available via the GOV.UK website: 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultat

 ions 

 

3.2 Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS 

 England website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/ 

 

The Department of Health and NHS England websites also include responses 

to closed consultations. 

 

Page 83

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/


 

 12 

3.3 Department of Health and Social Care Policies 

The following web link provides access to Department of Health and Social 

Care Policies: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=d

epartment-of-health  

 

 

4. Section B: Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 

 Group (GCCG) primary medical care commissioning 

 update   
These items are for information and noting. 

 

4.1 Primary Care Strategy Progress 
The Primary Care Strategy document was updated and circulated to all 
stakeholders during September 2019, updated and incorporated as an appendix to 
our ICS Long Term Plan Response and submitted as a standalone document to 
NHSE on 30 September 2019. GCCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
members reviewed the strategy at their October meeting and it will be presented to 
the Governing Body in January 2020. 
 
In this period practices and Primary Care Networks (PCN) had to decide whether 
to transfer into their PCN, their NHS England scheme related to Clinical 
Pharmacists. This has meant that there was a choice to be made about 
transferring Clinical Pharmacists employment to PCN employment. 
Gloucestershire not only had one of the highest numbers nationally of Clinical 
Pharmacists in a CCG, but also one of the highest ratios of transfer into a PCN. In 
addition to the above some of our PCNs have now recruited to posts under the 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (Clinical Pharmacists and Social 
Prescribing Link Workers for 2019/20). 

 
Progress is being made with the PCN and Clinical Director development. All 
Clinical Directors are currently being surveyed on their development needs and 
working with PCNs through the locality team to understand PCN development 
needs. This is being dovetailed with the work being undertaken in the Primary Care 
Training Hub to have complementary development and education opportunities. 
 
Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) members have been discussing and agreeing 
priority areas of work which will contribute to the delivery of the NHS Long Term 
Plan by Place. Members from each ILP have participated, along with local people, 
in discussions on the future of urgent advice, assessment and treatment services 
in Gloucestershire as part of the Fit for the Future Engagement. 

 
4.2 Improving Access to GP practice services 

Gloucestershire continues to deliver over and above the national mandated target 
of thirty minutes per thousand population for the Improved Access target. In this 
period the county received a visit from the national Access Team from NHS 
England as part of their investigations to inform the Access Review. The CCG 
coordinated the visit, which took NHSE colleagues to practices in both an urban 
(Gloucester City) and a rural (Forest of Dean) setting. Feedback from NHSE 
following the access visit is expected in due course. 

 

Page 84

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=department-of-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=department-of-health


 

 13 

4.3 Primary Care Workforce 
The additional roles in primary care referred to above e.g. PCN Clinical 
Pharmacists could have a detrimental impact on the wider workforce in 
Gloucestershire. We are mindful of this risk and are in the process of establishing 
cross system task and finish groups, reporting to our Local Workforce Action Board 
(LWAB) initially focused on Clinical Pharmacists and Advanced Physiotherapist 
Practitioners. These will build on the work already undertaken by partners on their 
staffing offer to GP Practices, with an initial stakeholder workshop for Clinical 
Pharmacists planned for early December 2019. 
 
The Annual Workforce Survey is underway to provide a robust representation of 
Gloucestershire’s primary care workforce and to support workforce planning. Part 
of the Annual Workforce Survey includes questions on whether GP practices were 
taking on learners and finding out reasons why not, if that were the case. 
 
The CCG supports many career development opportunities for GPs in the county 
including the new GP Fellowship programme and Gloucestershire’s Wise 5 
programme for GPs in the retirement and peri-retirement stages of their careers, to 
facilitate the retention of skills, knowledge and awareness within our system and 
offer support to other GPs. In addition to these an Early Career GP Lead has been 
employed on an initial 12 month basis for one session per week. The lead will 
focus on supporting F1 and F2 GPs, in particular, when they were deciding which 
area of medicine to pursue. Later this year Gloucestershire plans to recruit, in 
partnership with the Primary Care Training Hub and Health Education England, a 
fellow to act as a liaison between the GP vocational training scheme and GP 
trainees in county. 
 
There are currently ten GP retainers in the county with requests increasing. The 
CCG contributes funding towards this scheme in which eligible GPs may request to 
work for between one and four sessions per week. Our newly qualified GP scheme 
has been running for two years. Four host practices took part in the scheme in 
2019/20 with six out of eight GPs who participated in this scheme remaining in the 
practices in which they were placed. 
 
A review of structures has enabled a Clinical Development and Education Matron 
to commence in post at the CCG with a focus on a training analysis. In addition 
each locality has a nurse coordinator to provide support and also education and 
training needs. The nurse coordinators, who form part of the parachute nursing 
team, are being utilised to provide nursing support to cover unexpected short term 
gaps in general practice. 
 
In September and October 2019 GCCG funded 5 immunisation update sessions 
for practice nurses in county. These sessions were very well attended and 
evaluated. Further training dates are being planned for spring. GCCG is also 
developing a Non-Medical Prescribing (NMP) Update session, scheduled for 
March 2020 to ensure NMP’s in county are up-to-date with current guidance and 
the day will also feature specific updates in relation to frailty, diabetes and 
respiratory care. 

 
4.3 Digital First Primary Care 

The Long Term Plan states that “every patient has the right to be offered digital 
first Primary Care by 2023/24” which would enable patients to be able to access 
advice, support and treatment digitally. Twenty six percent of patients in 

Page 85



 

 14 

Gloucestershire have an Online Account which compares favourably to the 
minimum target of 10%. 
 
As reported to HOSC in November 2019 Gloucestershire’s use of the Electronic 
Prescription Service is one of the highest in the country. In this service a 
prescription can be sent directly to a patient’s nominated pharmacy of their choice 
and thereby remove the necessity to attend the GP practice. 
 
The NHS app has been implemented across Gloucestershire although not yet 
widely advertised. Advertisement will dovetail with a national communications 
campaign this Autumn. The new website (Footfall from Silicon Practice) supports 
Care Navigation and signposting to self-help and other services. This allows 
secure electronic communication between patients and practices and supports 
administrative functionality, which should reduce telephone calls to practices and 
therefore moderate the associated workload. Twenty four practices have already 
upgraded with another thirty having accepted the FootFall solution. If all these 
practices go ahead with installation circa 476,000 Gloucestershire patients will 
have access to digital on-line consultation. The remaining practices have been 
contacted to ascertain how they will provide digital communication in 2020. 

 

5. Section C: Local Providers’ updates  

 
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 

NHS Foundation Trust and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

(GHNHSFT),  

 

These items are for information and noting. 

 

 

5.1 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 

 (GHC) 
 

5.1.1 National award for innovative work around patient data 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust’s innovative work to 

understand the impact and value of healthcare costing on patient care has won the 

Trust a prestigious national award. 

 

GHC was awarded the Costing Award at the National Healthcare Management 

Finance Awards (HFMA) in central London. The prestigious annual awards 

celebrate excellence in financial departments across the NHS. GHC was chosen to 

receive the accolade from a strong shortlist from across the UK. 

 

The award recognised GHC’s ground-breaking work in combining business 

intelligence and patient costing data to help clinicians improve services. The work 

has involved numerous teams within the Trust, including frontline clinical 

colleagues, costing and finance, and IT. Together, they have worked to analyse 

the data that the Trust gathers, and look at how it can be applied to delivering 

better care for patients, through understanding a patient’s journey through 

Page 86



 

 15 

services, and how they move between different services the Trust offers. This will 

enable teams to take proactive measures and adapt treatment to try to prevent 

regular readmission to services, or a patient having contact with numerous 

different teams at different times. 

 

This has seen the Trust become one of only four trusts in the country to earn EVO 

Bronze accreditation from the Healthcare Costing for Value Institute. The EVO 

evaluation team described GHC as the leader in this field among England’s mental 

health, community health and combined mental and community health trusts. 

  

5.1.2 Positive Outcome for CQC Community Mental Health Survey 

The Care Quality Commission recently published the latest results of their annual 

community mental health survey for 2019. The survey, which was carried out when 

2gether NHS Foundation Trust was still our mental health provider, sought the 

views of more than 800 people on services provided in the area. With a response 

rate of 33 per cent (among the highest in the country) 2gether’s overall results 

were an improvement on the already successful results the previous year.  

  

The Trust obtained the highest Trust scores in England on 6 of the 28 evaluative 

questions: 

- Did the person or people you saw appear to be aware of your treatment history? 

- Has the purpose of your medicines been discussed with you? 

- Were these NHS therapies explained to you in a way that you could understand? 

- Were you involved as much as you wanted to be in deciding what NHS therapies 

to use? 

- In the last 12 months, did NHS mental health services give you any help or 

advice with finding support for financial advice or benefits? 

- In the last 12 months, did NHS mental health services give you any help or 

advice with finding support for finding or keeping work? 

  

Our results were ‘better’ than most Trusts for 11 of the 29 questions (38%) and 

‘about the same’ as other Trusts for the remaining 18 questions (62%). These 

results represent a further improvement when compared with our results from last 

years’ performance in the same survey (Better = 36%, about the same =64%). 

  

Areas identified for improvement are:  

  

 Giving people information about getting support from people with 

experience of the same mental health needs as them 

 Discussing the possible side-effects of medication with people 

 Asking people for their views on the quality of their care 

  

5.1.3 Trust Signs Corporate Covenant in Support of Armed Forces 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) has affirmed its 

support to the armed forces community by signing the Armed Forces Corporate 

Covenant. The Covenant is a promise by the nation, ensuring that those who serve 

or who have served in the armed forces, and their families, are treated fairly. 

Page 87



 

 16 

Both Gloucestershire Care Services and 2gether were previously signatories to the 

Covenant, but at the first Board meeting of GHC the Trust reaffirmed its 

commitment by signing the Covenant as a new Trust. 

The Corporate Covenant commits the Trust to upholding the key principles of the 

Armed Forces Covenant, which are: 

  

 no member of the Armed Forces Community should face disadvantage in 

the provision of public and commercial services compared to any other 

citizen; and 

 in some circumstances special treatment may be appropriate especially for 

the injured or bereaved. 

  

It also means the Trust will demonstrate its support by: 

  

 promoting the fact that we are an armed forces-friendly organisation; 

 seeking to support the employment of veterans young and old; 

 striving to support the employment of Service spouses and partners; 

 endeavouring to offer a degree of flexibility in granting leave for Service 

spouses and partners before, during and after a partner’s deployment; 

 seeking to support our employees who choose to be members of the 

Reserve forces, including by accommodating their training and deployment 

where possible; 

 offering support to our local cadet units, either in our local community or in 

local schools, where possible; 

 aiming to actively participate in Armed Forces Day; and 

 ensuring quick and easy access to healthcare services, and in some cases 

‘fast tracking’ treatment where symptoms are as a result of military service 

or related experience. 

  

5.1.4 Award for Melanie 

Senior Community Health Care Support Worker Melanie Woodman has been 

crowned Healthcare Apprentice of the Year. Melanie was presented with her award 

at the recent Lifetime Learner Achievement Awards. She completed her 

apprenticeship ahead of schedule despite working full time as a HCA and juggling 

a busy home life, running a smallholding, with seven children and five 

grandchildren! Melanie is now studying for her Nursing degree with a view to 

becoming a registered nurse and started her university course on the same day as 

her daughter.  

  

5.1.5 Stop the Pressure 

Thursday 21 November 2019 was Stop Pressure Ulcer Day. 

Colleagues at various Trust sites joined the drive to promote pressure ulcer 

awareness by entering a competition to create the most eye-catching and 

informative awareness stand. After much deliberation, competition judges John 

Trevains (Director of Nursing) and Michael Richardson (Deputy Director of 

Nursing) decided on Cirencester and the Cotswolds ICT locality as the winning 

entry. Professional Lead for District Nursing, Jo Curry, Ward Manager Karen 

Page 88



 

 17 

Fawcett and their teams worked together to create an informative and interactive 

patient stand to raise awareness of pressure ulcer causes and effects. 

  

5.1.6 Teams work together to exceed flu vaccination target for children with 

 learning disabilities 

Colleagues from our children’s services have seen excellent results in their work to 

address health inequalities among children and young people with learning 

disabilities, by starting to develop a more integrated relationship between teams. 

There was a disparity last year between the flu vaccination uptake rates for 

children with learning disabilities (55%) and the general child population (65%). 

  

The Children and Young People’s Service (CYPS) worked with the children and 

young people’s learning disabilities team and the immunisations team to look at 

how they could address this and, through their integrated working, have now 

reached a total vaccination rate for children with learning disabilities of 65.6%. This 

was achieved by extending the reach of the vaccination programme, providing 

different types of access and making reasonable adjustments. 

  

The Immunisation Team worked with the Communications Team to design and 

produce Easy Read materials, including a booklet, poster and letter for parents, 

which was reviewed by children’s speech and language therapists and the Trust’s 

4 Me About Me learning disability peer review group.  They also ordered copies of 

the Department for Health’s immunisation leaflet in Easy Read.  

  

Parents were offered the option of a school-based or community –based clinic, and 

they also ran a number of specialist clinics with children’s occupational therapists, 

which were attended by children needing sensory modulation support or those with 

anxiety. The learning disabilities team also provided training to the immunisation 

team on how to support young people with learning disabilities. In addition, the 

immunisation team were also able to support special learning disability clinics, 

where children and young people are held by colleagues during their treatment. 

  

The beginning of this new integrated relationship between the teams could be 

further seen in how they worked together to identify any children and young people 

with learning disabilities who may be able to be provided with support to access 

immunisations while accessing other services. 

 

5.1.7 Health Visitors Showcase work at National Conference 

Health Visitors from Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust were 

lucky enough to be selected from many other applicants to showcase and share 

the outstanding work they have been doing within the county at the Community 

Practitioners and Health Visitors Association (CPHVA) 2019 Conference held in 

Harrogate. Emma Hawthorne and Pam Dickerson were invited to attend to lead a 

session presenting the significant contribution of the Health Visitor role within the 

Turn Around for Children Service and their involvement with families assigned to 

the Family Drug and Alcohol court (FDAC). Health Visitors and Perinatal Mental 

Health Champions Sarah Duffy and Elizabeth Browne were invited to present a 

Page 89



 

 18 

poster highlighting the unique role of Health Visitors in the delivery of Video 

Interactive Guidance (ViG) within universal services. Not surprisingly, there was a 

huge amount of interest in their work from professional leads across the county, 

this was a proud moment for us and all our health Visiting Teams in 

Gloucestershire! 

  

5.2 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT)  
 

5.2.1 Operational performance  
 

Gloucestershire Hospitals, like many neighbouring Trusts, is reflecting the national 
picture of significant operational pressures, more redolent of peak winter months, 
and particularly in urgent and emergency care. A&E waiting time performance has 
been impacted despite very significant efforts across the health and care system to 
limit demand on hospitals services. With this context so early in the winter season, 
there is a huge focus on staff wellbeing and resilience in all areas across the Trust 
but especially in those services most impacted by these pressures. This includes a 
review (and enhancement where needed) of staff rest areas and a renewed focus 
on ensuring staff are supported to take their breaks and that those breaks are of 
high quality. Staff morale remains positive and there are some very promising 
improvements in staffing in some of our most challenged ward areas. 

 
5.2.2 Electronic Patient Record (EPR) 
 

GHNHSFT has successfully introduced a new EPR at Gloucestershire Royal 
Hospital (GRH). From the 4th December 2019, all our adult inpatient wards 
(x24) successfully converted key nursing documentation to a digital system to 
record patient information. This is part of the Trust’s long-term commitment to 
using better, faster, safer technology to help deliver our vision of Best care for 
Everyone by supporting clinical decision-making; enabling safer, more 
reliable patient care and improved patient experience.  
 
Known as Sunrise EPR, the system is already being successfully used by 
some of the most digitally advanced NHS hospitals in England. Clinicians 
have been directly involved in the development of Sunrise EPR, which will 
give clinicians a single point of access to the clinical information they need to 
make fast, informed decisions.   
 
In addition to the benefits outlined above, the implementation of the new 
system has freed up those staff using the new system, to spend more time 
with patients. Some of the early benefits have included reduced falls on our 
wards, reduced use of call bells and improved patient communication – all 
stemming from the increased visibility of nursing staff at the patient bedside, 
as opposed to paper note recording at more remote administrative locations. 
 
The implementation has been so successful that plans to roll-out the system 
in Cheltenham General Hospital have been brought forward and is now 
planned to take place in early February 2020.   
 
The Trust EPR programme runs parallel with significant improvements in the 
community where the patient record has also been digitalised under a programme 
called Joining Up Your Information (JUYI). The ultimate vision is to combine these 

Page 90



 

 19 

systems so that the patient’s record is seamless and joined up across all NHS and 
care services.   

 
5.2.3 Flu vaccination  
 

GHNHSFT’s flu vaccination uptake is the best in the South West and among the 
best in the country, having achieved a 80.9% uptake (week beginning 16th 
December). This impressive uptake is credit to both the way the Trust administers 
the vaccination and the way that staff perceive the vaccine and its role in protecting 
our patients.  

 
The flu tents, which have become so synonymous with the vaccine and the flu 
season, are now down. However, peer vaccinators are still on hand to administer 
the vaccine and staff have been made aware of how they can still receive a jab.    

 
5.2.4 Climate emergency   
 

Following its inaugural #BigGreenConversation on the 19th December, the Trust 
Board considered a recommendation to declare a “climate emergency” reflecting 
the evidence that climate change is the greatest threat to public health in the 21st 
century and making it only the fifth NHS organisation to do so. The Trust is working 
closely with the County Council who has done a huge amount already and is 
committed to working with them to achieve the target of net carbon neutral by 2050 
at the latest. 
 
In Gloucestershire, we have already taken actions to reduce the impact of 
healthcare delivery on the environment. From offering discounts for use of 
reusable cups in onsite catering facilities, a free the shuttle bus to reduce reliance 
on car travel, less than 10% of all waste going to landfill to an award winning 
initiative to reduce the use of the anaesthetic gas Desflurane, resulting in 95% 
reduction and saving in excess of 800 tonnes of carbon dioxide and over £60,000. 

 
5.2.5 Staff awards  
 

The annual GHNHSFT Staff Awards ceremony was held in November at Hatherley 
Manor in late November. This year there were 17 different categories with more 
than 300 staff in attendance. Categories included The Patients’ Choice Award, 
Volunteer of the Year, Outstanding Clinical Leader and Life Time Achievement 
Award. New for the event this year was the live broadcast/streaming of the 
ceremony, which was well received by those members of staff who couldn’t attend 
due to capacity issues at the venue.      

 
5.2.6 Inaugural Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic conference 
 

Earlier in December, the Trust held its inaugural conference to celebrate our Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) workforce and community. The event, 
sponsored by our Diversity Network and organised by senior nurse and Ethnicity 
Sub-group Chair, Coral Boston, was incredibly well attended with more than a 100 
staff coming together to explore the issues affecting BAME staff and patients. The 
Conference opened with a presentation describing the experience of BAME staff in 
the NHS, which compares poorly on a number of dimensions when viewed 
alongside NHS staff as a whole. Of particular note were the moving stories from 
three BAME staff and guest speaker, Sandra Samuels, Inclusion and Diversity 

Page 91



 

 20 

Officer from Gloucestershire Constabulary who all described their own personal 
journeys and some of the challenges they had encountered (and overcome). 
Whilst the Trust has a Workforce Race Equality Scheme and action plan, it is clear 
from the event that more needs to be done and the Trust needs to be bolder in its 
plans and responses to the issues raised by BAME staff. Overall, however, it was 
celebrated as a very positive start to a different way of working with this specific 
staff group. 
 

6. Recommendations 
This report is provided for information and HCOSC Members are invited to note 

the contents. 

 

Dr Andrew Seymour    Mary Hutton  

Clinical Chair      Accountable Officer 

NHS Gloucestershire CCG    NHS Gloucestershire CCG 

 

6 January 2020 

 

Page 92



Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU):
Substantial Variation or development of Health Services 

1. Purpose

This MoU has been prepared to enable the Committee to be clear as to what 
constitutes a substantial variation or development in a health service and to clarify 
the role of scrutiny. 

Scrutiny plays a key role in holding NHS Commissioners and NHS Trusts to account, 
scrutinising local NHS services and ensuring NHS Commissioners and Trusts 
involve, engage and/ or consult lawfully and appropriately with local people. This role 
includes determining whether a service change constitutes a ‘substantial variation’ 
and determining requirements placed upon an NHS body if an issue is a ‘substantial 
variation’.

This document is to be agreed by the local NHS Commissioners (NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group/ NHS England and NHS 
Improvement) and Trusts (Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust, 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, South West Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation trust) and the Gloucestershire County Council Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and then reviewed again in 12 months, or following any material 
change to guidance or legislation. 

2. Legislation

The National Health Service Act 2006 sets out the legislative framework for public 
involvement. Consultation with local authorities is provided for in the Local Authority 
Regulations 2013 made under section 244 (2) (c) of the NHS Act 2006. In addition 
amendments to the 2006 Act introduced by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
have placed further duties on NHS commissioners.

It is the role of the relevant Local Authority to determine whether a proposed service 
change is ‘substantial’ and should therefore be subject to public consultation. In 
Gloucestershire this role is delegated to the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

3. Parties

 Gloucestershire County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
 NHS England and NHS Improvement
 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
  Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust
 Healthwatch Gloucestershire

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



 South West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust 

4. Key principles

There must be clear and early confidence* that a proposal satisfies NHS England and 
NHS Improvement’s four tests and is affordable in capital and revenue terms:

 Strong public and patient engagement
 Consistency with current prospective need for patient choice
 Clear, clinical evidence base
 Support for proposals from clinical commissioners

*Confidence to be provided through confirmation that the NHS England and NHS 
Improvement’s Assurance Process for Service Changes has been followed.

Fifth Test in relation to ‘bed closures’

From 1 April 2017, local NHS organisations have to show that significant hospital bed 
closures subject to the current formal public consultation tests can meet one of three new 
conditions before NHS England and NHS Improvement will approve them to go ahead:

 Demonstrate that sufficient alternative provision, such as increased GP or 
community services, is being put in place alongside or ahead of bed closures, and 
that the new workforce will be there to deliver it; and/or

 Show that specific new treatments or therapies, such as new anti-coagulation 
drugs used to treat strokes, will reduce specific categories of admissions: or

 Where a hospital has been using beds less efficiently than the national average, 
that it has a credible plan to improve performance without affecting patient care 
(for example in line with the Getting it Right First Time programme).

It is important that all parties are clear as to the types of service change proposals that 
might be brought forward and how they might differ to a substantial variation:

Pilot
A pilot is a test or experiment of a service change prior to it being introduced 
more widely. This should inform the development of a service change and 
should be reversible in the event that evaluation of the pilot objectives and 
learning indicate that a different direction is required.  

Service users should be involved in the development of solutions and 
appraisals to reach conclusions regarding which solution/s to pilot.

If more than one pilot solution has been tested and if a permanent change is 
envisaged then there is a role for HOSC  in order to ensure that relevant 
consultation with the public is undertaken regarding which pilot to implement 
permanently.

If only one pilot solution has been tested, or only one of the pilots has been 
evaluated as having achieved the stated objectives and if permanent change 
is envisaged, then there is a role for HOSC to consider whether further 
consultation with the public is undertaken.

Page 94



A pilot would be expected to meet key criteria including having a clear start 
and end point, objectives, evaluation criteria and an exit plan. 

Emergency 
Service 
Change
(previously 
titled as 
temporary)

Emergency service changes can be made under regulation 23(2) of the s.244 
regulations because of a risk to safety or welfare of patients or staff. In these 
circumstances it may not be possible to undertake any public involvement or 
consultation with the Local Authority. 

The Independent Reconfiguration Panel (IRP) view suggests that temporary 
is three months and that this can be reviewed once for a further three 
months. This will be determined by the timescale required to mitigate the 
risks that led to the emergency change, the timescale should be defined and 
agreed with HOSC at the outset of the change. HOSC should then be kept 
update on progress with the risk mitigation plan on a quarterly basis. 

If the circumstances of the emergency change alter and it emerges that more 
permanent change may be required, HOSC and NHS Commissioners should 
expect to receive details of how service users will be involved in developing 
alternative services in line with NHSE and NHSI guidance, including the need 
to consider whether the proposed change is a substantial variation that 
requires public consultation.

‘Substantial 
variation’ As neither the Department for Health and Social Care or NHS England/ and 

Improvement provide a national definition of ‘substantial’ within this context, it 
is recommended that the local NHS Commissioner/s and Trusts come to an 
agreement with HOSC on whether a proposed change is a ‘substantial 
variation’ or not. 

The Independent Reconfiguration Panel holds the view that the final decision 
of what is substantial lies with HOSC.

A principle to assist in the discussion between HOSC and the local NHS 
organisations regarding whether a service change is substantial should be 
parity in relation to local expectations regarding consultation. i.e what would 
residents expect in similar circumstances associated with Local Authority 
commissioned statutory services such as locations of children’s or adult 
services or support services provided in the homes or care homes.

As part of this process Members should consider the public law principles 
applied by the Courts in Judicial Reviews where a complainant takes a public 
body to court for not consulting. The Courts apply principles around legitimate 
expectation and fairness. In order to account for this, the committee will 
consider the Gunning Principles around consultation. 

When considering whether a proposal is substantial, the following factors 
should be taken into account:

 Changes in accessibility of services – for example both reductions 
and increases on a particular site or changes in opening times for a 
particular clinic.

 Impact of proposal on the wider community and other services, 

Page 95



including economic impact, accessibility and regeneration

 Patients affected, impact may be on whole population or a small 
group of patients on whom the impact may be substantial

 Methods of service delivery, altering the way the service is 
delivered, for example switching to a community based setting

 Benefits this service change will deliver to patients, carers, families 
and/or staff

 Risks this service change will mitigate or issues this service change 
will address

 National or local policy or strategy this service change relates to.

The Commissioner of a service has a duty to consult Health Scrutiny 
when there is a significant change planned. The timescales of the 
consultation must be clear and published. 

Where a health scrutiny committee has been consulted on substantial 
developments or variations, the committee has the power to make 
comments on the proposals and to refer the matter to the Secretary of 
State and Independent Reconfiguration Panel.

5. Referral to Secretary of State and Independent Reconfiguration Panel

Where the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee comments include a 
recommendation and the consulting organisation disagrees with that 
recommendation, the organisation must notify the committee of the disagreement. 
Both the Committee and consulting organisation must take steps as reasonably 
practicable to try to reach agreement.

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee may report to the Secretary of State in 
writing (Local Authority Regulations 2013, section 23 (9)) if:

 It is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation.
 It is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation
 It considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in 

its areas.
 It has not been consulted, and it is not satisfied that the reasons given for not 

carrying out consultation are adequate.

The legislation requires a robust evidence base to prove the above points in line with 
NHS Constitution.

Further guidance is available at 

Centre for public scrutiny guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32496
5/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf


Government guidance on consultation principles (2012): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance  

Health and Social Care Act 2001, sections 7 – 10: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents   

Health and Social Care Act 2012, includes new requirements for CCGs
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted 

NHS Constitution 
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2
013/the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf

Independent Reconfiguration Panel
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/independent-reconfiguration-panel 

6. Protocol

In order to consider whether a proposal constitutes a ‘substantial’ variation in the first 
instance the local NHS Commissioner/s and NHS Trust/s will meet with Lead 
Members of Health Overview and Scrutiny to consider how the proposal is defined. 
This would avoid differences of view at a later stage which might compromise or 
delay progress.

The NHS Commissioner/s (CCG or NHS England and NHS Improvement), with the 
Trust, should complete the attached pro-forma to discuss with the Chair of the 
Committee and Democratic Services at the County Council. 

If agreement cannot be reached then the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will ultimately determine whether a proposed change is a substantial 
variation. 

7. Timeline

It is important that early notice is given to lead members of plans for an item to be put 
on the agenda of Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee according to the following 
timeline:

 Greater than 6 months before potential agenda item– Notice given to HOSC 
Lead Members

 6 months notice – Consideration at Health Scrutiny work planning meeting

 A month before Committee meeting– NHS reference Group to receive 
feedback on the presentation being prepared for HOSC and help to ensure it 
was suitable for a non-NHS audience.

 Health Scrutiny Committee to then consider the item

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/independent-reconfiguration-panel


Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service 
variation

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation

Lead Manager and contact details

Details of the current service

Details of the proposed change to service

Timescales involved

What is the reason for the proposed service change?
(What is the case for change?)

Benefits 

Risks

National or local policy or strategy this service change relates to

Page 98



Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date?
(with the public/ service users)

(include details of Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee involvement)

(with Staff)

(with NHSE/NHSI/ Clinical Senate)

(other)

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this

Changes in 
accessibility

(i.e. transport issues/ 
opening hours etc)

Patients/ carers 
affected

(demographic 
assumptions that have 
been made)

Changes in methods 
of delivery 

(venue / practitioner)

Impact upon other 
service delivery

Page 99



Wider implications

(consider effects on 
community safety/ local 
economy etc)

Equality/ Inequality 
issues

(how will it help achieve 
health improvement 
goals and reduce 
inequalities?)

Name of person 
completing this pro-
forma

Date proforma 
completed

Outcome 
(HOSC Comments)

Page 100


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Fit for the Future
	6 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report
	7 One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report
	8 GCCG Clinical Chair/ Accountable Officer Report
	9 Memorandum of Understanding

